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Tuesday, July 24, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.

MS. HARE:   Please be seated.  Good morning.

MR. SMITH:  Good morning.

MS. HARE:  Are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just a few preliminary matters.  We filed this morning the undertakings from day 5 except for, I gather, J5.1, which will be filed shortly, and then I expect to be in a position to file the day 6 and day 7 undertakings before tomorrow, which would bring us fully up to date.

MS. HARE:  Good.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Then in terms of the schedule, I believe we have the finance panel up this morning.  We have received indication from a number of parties that their estimate of cross-examination has changed significantly in some instances.

MS. HARE:  In which way?

MR. SMITH:  Down.  Yes, for this panel.  For example, Mr. Shepherd had an hour.  We have just been advised he has none.  So we will see how this morning goes.  We do have our Parkway panel here.  If we do end early, I might ask to take the lunch break early.

MS. HARE:  Well, as it turns out, one of the Board members has a commitment, and so we will have to break at 12:30.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MS. HARE:  If it turns out earlier than that, I think that works, as well, but no later than 12:30.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Just one more small preliminary matter.

MS. HARE:  Do you have your microphone on?

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Thompson is at the island airport.  He's running a little bit late and anticipated he would have time -- with some people not being available for cross-examination, I think we are going to be comfortable
-- he will get here comfortably before his turn, but he sends his regrets that he couldn't be here at the start.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Smith, can you introduce your panel, please?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Without further ado, I would like to introduce Ms. Linda Vienneau, Beth Cummings and Ms. Elliott, not in that order.  If I could ask them to come forward to be sworn, that would be great.  First, Ms. Cummings.
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 5

Beth Cummings, Sworn


Pat Elliott, Previously Sworn


Linda Vienneau, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Ms. Vienneau, maybe I can start with you.  I understand that you are the manager, affiliate accounting and reporting for Union Gas?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that's a very recent position for you?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes, just effective May.

MR. SMITH:  And I gather before that you were the manager of plant accounting?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  That was a position that you had held since 2008?

MS. VIENNEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And as manager plant accounting, what were your responsibilities?

MS. VIENNEAU:  I was responsible for ensuring that all of our assets are recorded accurately in our financial system, and any retirements and additions are appropriately accounted for, any reporting associated with our plant.

MR. SMITH:  I gather that you have been with Union since 2004?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you were employed by AIG as an accountant in Bermuda?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Good for you.  I gather you are a chartered accountant?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you have a bachelor of mathematics from the University of Waterloo?

MS. VIENNEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  You are a member of the CICA?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants?

MS. VIENNEAU:  yes.

MR. SMITH:  And were you responsible or did you assist in the preparation of the evidence at A2, tab 2, B1?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?

MS. VIENNEAU:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And, similarly, were you responsible or did you assist in the preparation of answers to interrogatories in relation to that evidence?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt it for the purposes of testifying today?

MS. VIENNEAU:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Ms. Elliott, you previously were sworn, so you won't go through your curriculum vitae, but do you adopt the evidence at A2, tab 2, and H1, tab 4 for the purposes of testifying today?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Similarly, do you adopt the answers to interrogatories given in relation to that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Finally, Ms. Cummings, I gather that you are the manager of O&M and capital at Union Gas?

MS. CUMMINGS:  Yes, I am.

MR. SMITH:  And that's a position that you have held since 2010?

MS. CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I gather you have held various managerial positions with Union Gas since about 1999?

MS. CUMMINGS:  Yes, I have.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you were employed by Bell Canada for approximately eight years?

MS. CUMMINGS:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  I gather that you have an MBA from Queen's University?

MS. CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And a bachelor of science from Windsor University?

MS. CUMMINGS:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And this is your first time testifying here before the Board?

MS. CUMMINGS:  Yes, it is.

MR. SMITH:  Were you responsible or did you assist in the preparation of the evidence at A2, tab 2?

MS. CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, equally, with respect to the evidence at B1, tab 2?

MS. CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And the evidence at D1, tab 2.

MS. CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?

MS. CUMMINGS:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt answers to interrogatories given in relation to that evidence?

MS. CUMMINGS:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Just one question in examination-in-chief, if I may, with leave of the Board.  We filed, Ms. Elliott, an undertaking given to Member Taylor at Exhibit J5.4.  Members of the Panel have that.  I would just ask that you quickly describe what is reflected in that undertaking.

MS. ELLIOTT:  So the schedule provided and attached to the undertaking is the response to the question of the capital structure with a 40 percent common equity component, and the capital structure as it would look with a 36 percent common equity component.

The proposed capital structure at 40 percent was in fact designed to finance the rate base in the settlement agreement, so that lines 1 through 6 on the schedule will be as per the settlement agreement.  That structure was determined based on the utility rate base, calculated at 40 percent common equity.

And the pref share portion and the long-term debt portion in the structure are basically the utility portions of those two amounts, and the balance in that structure is short-term debt.

So when you move to a 36 percent common equity structure, you would obviously decrease the common equity component and increase the short-term debt component.

In this case, the short-term debt component increased to beyond our maximum borrowing levels.  So the result was an additional long-term debt issue of $200 million to rebalance, and that's issued in September of 2013.

So on the average of monthly averages, it will only show up as about $54 million worth of debt in the structure.  So that's what we've done to come up with the 36 percent equity scenario.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Ms. Elliott.

MS. HARE:  I'm a little bit puzzled by the words that you used, that the capital structure at 40 percent was in fact designed to finance the rate base in the settlement agreement.

But, of course, this was an issue that wasn't settled.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, it was only meant to deal with -- the rate base was a settled amount, and so this structure finances that settlement amount.

The structure itself hasn't been settled, and the cost of the components haven't been settled.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MS. ELLIOTT:  But the rate base has.

MR. SMITH:  Just so it is clear on the record, Ms. Elliott, you are referring then -- you had indicated lines 1 to 6, but when you talk about the settled figure, you are referring to the total rate base figure reflected at line 6 and line 12?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, I just have one question.  It relates to the last paragraph of Exhibit J5.4, which says:

"The difference between Union's actual short-term borrowings and the amount included in the utility capital structure relates to the financing of items not included in the rate base."

It doesn't really appear to this chart what the actual short-term borrowings are, and it seems that short-term debt is sort of being used as a cushion in this case and it is still notionally speaking of a credit reducing the total debt outstanding.

So it's not clear to me that the purpose of the undertaking was delineated, in that it's not clear whether the amounts that are not yet in rate base in fact are not represented in the schedule on page 2.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The actual short-term borrowings are not shown on this schedule, but they would, in fact, be a positive balance or a credit balance.

The capital structure is showing negative short-term borrowings, and it's a function of the fact that short-term debt is used to balance the capital structure.  And what our short-term debt is actually financing are construction work-in-progress items that aren't in rate base.

And when we hit the maximum short-term borrowings, we need to then issue long-term debt to deal with the financing.  So --


MS. TAYLOR:  But you are triggering a long-term debt issuance, potentially because of items that have not yet been approved for rate base; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  So it is not clear to me how that is flowing into this.

Can you just point somewhere in the evidence where the actual short-term debt balance would be for the test year, that is, in effect, outside of rate base?

I'm assuming what you're doing is all the long-term debt is going into rate base; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  So that the short-term debt is the balance between what you are actually spending outside and what you are including in?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  So where -- if you could just point me to an exhibit, a page number reference, where I am going to find the actual short-term debt for the test year.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I may have to undertake to do that for 2013.  I know it will be in the financial statements for 2011, but in terms of the forecast for 2013, we can get that information if it is available in the filing.

MS. TAYLOR:  Well, if you would, please undertake to provide it.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.  Certainly.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J8.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.1:  TO PROVIDE AMOUNT OF SHORT-TERM DEBT FOR THE TEST YEAR.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe just following up on that, Ms. Elliott, is the presence of negative short-term debt, is this the -- is this the first time this has occurred in Union's utility capital structure?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No, it's not.  It's been in the capital structure for at least the past two rate cases, 2007 and 2004.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  I have no further questions in cross-examination -- or examination-in-chief.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Aiken, are you cross-examining first?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Good morning, panel.  My name is Randy Aiken.  I'm here representing the London Property Management Association.  I've got a couple of questions or a couple of areas I want to ask questions on, and you will need the LPMA compendium part 2, which is Exhibit K6.6.

If you could turn to page 9 of the compendium, this is Exhibit J.DV-4-2-1, I have a few questions related to the average use per customer deferral account.

Based on the response provided to this interrogatory, Union indicates that there is no need to keep this account in 2013.  So am I correct that Union does not intend for this account to be used in 2013?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  But you want to keep it around because it might be a possible component of your next multi-year incentive regulation proposal; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you turn to page 4 of the compendium?  This is appendix C from Exhibit H1, tab 4, and is the actual wording in the average use per customer account.  I want to read the middle part of it.

It says:

"To record as a debit or credit in deferral account number 179-118 the margin variance resulting from the difference between the actual rate of decline in use per customer and forecast rate of decline in use per customer included in gas delivery rates as approved by the Board.  Actual and forecasted rate of declines in use per customer will be calculated on a percentage and rate class-specific basis for rate classes M1, M2, 01 and 10, be normalized for weather and exclude the impacts attributed to DSM which are captured in the Lost Revenue Adjustment Mechanism deferral account number 179-75."

Now, there does not appear, to me at least, to be anything in that wording that indicates that this account will not be used in 2013; would you agree with that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I would.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, if we go if to page -- back to page 11 -- or sorry, to page 11 of the compendium, the last page, this is page 3 of Exhibit H1, tab 4, and it is a section that deals with the average use account.  And it's described there.

This evidence indicates that you proposed to continue tracking the average use per customer in the existing deferral account, and to remove the limitation that currently makes it applicable only to the current incentive regulation period, 2008 to 2012.

Then it goes on to state that the proposed accounting order -- which is reflected in appendix C, which we just looked at, will allow it to be in effect until it is changed or eliminated.

Now, this evidence seems to contradict your earlier statement that it would not be used in 2013.  So my question is:  What wording changes are you proposing to the deferral account so that it is clear that it's not used in 2013?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I think one of the possible wording changes would be to put a 2014 effective date on it.

MR. AIKEN:  Then my question for that is -- Union is likely to be in for some sort of incentive, some sort of IRM proposal, probably later this fall.

So my question is:  Why do we need to even keep that account around?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Technically we don't.  We could eliminate the account for the 2013 test year and reintroduce the account for the IRM period.

MR. AIKEN:  Assuming it was part of the IRM proposal?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Assuming it was part of the proposal, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  If we could go now to page 10 of the compendium, again, this is Exhibit H, tab 4, page 2 this time.

At the top of this page you discuss the inventory valuation account and the removal of the transmission line pack gas to be consistent with the reclassification of the line pack gas from gas in inventory to property, plant and equipment.

I believe your evidence states that line pack gas is made up of two components, being base line -- or, sorry, base line pack gas and working line pack gas.

Can you explain the difference between these two components?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Essentially the two components are really -- what the base represents is that which does not vary, whereas the variable component will potentially vary by season, so increasing through the winter and decreasing through the summer.

MR. AIKEN:  Does your proposal to move line pack gas from inventory revaluation account to PP&E apply to both components?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it does.  The variable component would move -- as the volume moves through inventory, it would be potentially revalued, but it wouldn't necessarily need to be revalued as line pack.

MR. AIKEN:  So if you go to page 3 of the compendium, this shows the wording in the inventory revaluation account.

Does this wording allow for the revaluation of the value of the working component of the line pack gas?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  The rewording of the accounting order is for inventory only.  It would not include the working component or the working component of line pack.

The working component of line pack moves through inventory, so when it is in inventory, it would be revalued.

When it's in line pack, it would not.

MR. AIKEN:  Do we know what the volume of the working line pack gas is in your 2013 test year?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I believe it's in evidence.  I don't have it handy with me.

MR. AIKEN: Would you undertake to provide the reference to where that volume is?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I will.

MR. AIKEN:  Or provide the number?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J8.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.2:  TO PROVIDE THE VOLUME OF WORKING LINE PACK GAS IN 2013 TEST YEAR.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Quinn, or it looks like Ms. Girvan is going next.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  Panel, I'm Julie Girvan, Consumers Council of Canada.  I have a quick sort of clarification question.

If you could turn to -- it is an interrogatory from the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, and it's been referred to quite a bit in this proceeding, J.O-4-14-1.  I am looking at attachment 1.

MS. ELLIOTT:  We have it on the screen.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And this is a financial summary including the derivation of the revenues, deficiency/sufficiency.

I just want to make sure I understand the numbers.  So at the bottom, line 24, this is the net sufficiency and it's through the years 2007 to 2012.

Then of that line, there is a portion of that that is shared between ratepayers and shareholders; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So I think that is already on the record in terms of what those amounts are, what was ultimately shared and what goes directly to the shareholders.

The question that I have is just to confirm this doesn't include the DSM shared savings mechanism amount; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, it does not.

MS. GIRVAN:  So the sufficiency amounts here, an additional portion would be going to the shareholders in each of these years consistent with the SSM; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. MacIntosh or Mr. Quinn, who is next?  Mr. Quinn.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you.

Good morning, panel.  I am Dwayne Quinn, and I represent the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.  I am going to go through a few undertakings from the technical conference first, and then go back up to the higher level.

So there is two undertakings, Exhibit JT1.34 and JT1.41.

We will start with 34, if we may.  Ryan is getting ever so much quicker with this.  It's great.

MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes, we have that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  What we're trying to do is establish some clarity on how the allocation of assets - and eventually I will get to, later, O&M - evolve or stay stagnant, depending on your policy relative to addition of new assets.

And JT1.34 goes through basically the replacement of plant A with plant J; is that correct?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  So I just want to walk through it and try to ensure that we have understanding as to Union's policy in this area and how it applies.

So moving down to the bottom table, we have a blended allocation to unregulated storage.  First, if you could just walk us through that table as to the derivation, and then I have a couple of questions about it?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Certainly.  The original Dawn plant A facility was allocated 80.14 percent to the regulated operation and 19.86 to the unregulated operation.

We were provided with an estimate of replacing that facility with a like facility.  The cost of that was 29.9 million.

That cost was allocated in the same proportion as the historical plant that was being replaced.  The cost of adding the additional horsepower to that facility and to change the location of that facility cost $11.8 million, which was allocated 100 percent to the unregulated operation.

That provided a cost to regulated of $24 million and unregulated of $17.7 million, which results in a new blended percentage for that new facility of 57.55 percent to the regulated operation and 42.45 percent to the unregulated operation.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you for the overview.

Now, I just want to walk through this one step at a time.  If I can start off with -- implicit in this response is something that we're trying to get clarity on.  Does Union have a different asset allocation mix between regulated and unregulated for each of its individual storage pools?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would there be anywhere in the record that these are summarized?

MS. VIENNEAU:  No, there is not.

MR. QUINN:  How did that original percentage get derived?

MS. VIENNEAU:  It was through the work we did with KPMG and it was based on the 2007 cost study.

MR. QUINN:  Now, this is the same cost study that was eventually reviewed by Black & Veatch?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And in the understanding of that study, there was an allocation that was -- an allocation methodology that was developed on the premise of the amount of space and the amount of deliverability?

MS. VIENNEAU:  That was the initial consideration, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So that was the initial consideration.  Can you tell me how that evolved, then?

MS. VIENNEAU:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. QUINN:  Your response was that was the initial consideration.

MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.  So space and deliverability was the consideration to determine the storage allocation, and then when you're looking at a compressor plant, we also looked at the horsepower allocation.

MR. QUINN:  So, again, I am going to work with pools first, and then move to the compressor plant.  So for the individual pools, you said they have individual allocations between regulated and unregulated?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Essentially, there is two different allocations when you look at the pools in total.

We first looked at whether or not a pool provided storage only, or storage and transmission.  And there are a small number of pools that have the ability to put gas into our transmission line.  So there are assets at that location that have a storage and transaction component, which is separate from ones that are purely storage.

MR. QUINN:  And I guess I asked the question before and I think I understood the answer, but is there anywhere in the evidence where we would find these pools that may have a breakdown between storage and transaction?

MS. VIENNEAU:  No.  It's not in the evidence filed.

MR. QUINN:  Is that something you would be able to file to support the evidence?

MR. SMITH:  I guess the answer to the question is this comes back to the issues day and what was decided in the 0038 case.  Union had a proceeding first, 2010-0039, and subsequently 2011-0038, where Union sought and ultimately received approval to the one-time separation of its assets between its regulated and unregulated operations.

And the Board, on issues day, was quite clearly it didn't want to revisit that proceeding, and so I question the utility of going back and providing further support for something that has already been decided.

I would have thought that what is at issue is whether or not Union has been complying with the methodology as it's been adding assets or replacing assets.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Quinn, can you repeat what it is you are asking for and why you need that, in light of Mr. Smith's comments?

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am going to try to handle this hopefully in the way it was phrased.

The 0038 did provide a one-time separation of assets and approval for the methodology that supports it.

However, Union has on the record, and continues to put into evidence, that they continue to add assets to the storage mix.

We're trying to understand, and it's pretty clear we don't have complete understanding, how those assets are added, how the subsequent costs are allocated, what's the effect on O&M costs.  Union's putting in its cost allocation study for the first time since it's had this one-time separation of assets.

And in our view, there isn't information on the record, one, to have a documentation of how they're doing it, and two, the numbers that support the decisions that have been made.

In this case, and what we have been referring to, there is storage pools that have both storage and transmission allocations, but we have no information to know how that separation was done.  So as we get into cost allocation and ratemaking, which may affect rates between M12 and in-franchise customers, it is helpful to understand the methodologies to support the allocations provided.

MR. SMITH:  Well, the response to that is my friend is 100 percent wrong as to what Union has previously provided, in that Union in both its 0039 case and then subsequently in 0038 filed its entire cost-allocation methodology with respect to the allocation between regulated and unregulated.

It was reviewed by Black & Veatch, subject to comment by Mr. Rosenkranz, who was retained by Mr. Quinn and Mr. Thompson.

So I don't see that that portion of the submission is -- as correct.

But I suppose more particularly in relation to the undertaking, I don't see how the question goes to the submission, in any event.  If my friend wants to ask:  How have you allocated replacement or new facilities between storage and transmission, to the extent of pool service both or storage only to the extent of pool storage only, I think we should just ask those questions and get the answers.

That, I think, is the direct way to go about it.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Quinn, if you asked the questions the way that Mr. Smith is suggesting, does that give you what you need?

MR. QUINN:  It may.  We may not need to see all the supporting detail if we understand the methodology and we have some comfort that the methodology was applied in this case.

To Mr. Smith's point -- and I have asked this question before -- I cannot find -- like, this response to this undertaking was actually a surprise, because as far as we understood the allocations were being done by space and deliverability.

This is a compressor station; it's being allocated based upon investment of assets.

There was nowhere in the evidence where we could find that that allocation methodology was actually written down so that we could actually understand it.

So we're trying to create understanding.  Ultimately, and I was going to get to that later, I would be looking for them to either demonstrate where they've documented this or, if not, take it as an undertaking, so once we have the documentation then we can continue to rely upon it, not only for 2013 but hopefully beyond.

MR. SMITH:  None of this is of a concern to me.  It is just we've covered all of this ground.  That's -- I don't accept that it hasn't been filed.  I don't accept that it wasn't all reviewed in the 0038 case, but I am happy to proceed however the Board wants to.

MS. HARE:  But your witnesses can answer the question?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  I would have thought the question is:  Are you following your approved methodology?

MR. QUINN:  Well, maybe we could start with that, Mr. Smith.

Could the witnesses turn up specifically in the evidence where the capital investment policy that would support this allocation, where is that specifically referenced, and the mechanics that go with it?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There's probably two places in the evidence where it's summarized.

In Exhibit A2, tab 2, we summarize the allocation methodologies between regulated and unregulated operations.

MR. QUINN:  If you would just give us a moment, if we may, just to turn that up, it would be helpful to make sure we're following.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Mm-hmm.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If you could give us the specific page reference you are dealing with?

MS. ELLIOTT:  So on page 5 of 8 in the table, it talks about the allocation of the existing underground storage assets consistent with the 2007 cost-allocation methodology.

And those costs were allocated based on space and deliverability and transmission capacity at that time.

MR. QUINN:  We were speaking to specifically new or replacement and new assets together.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sure.

MR. QUINN:  Can you provide us --


MS. ELLIOTT:  In addition to that, there is an undertaking response provided at J.B-8-10-2 that talks about new storage assets being 100 percent allocated to unregulated, which, if all of the capacity of that new asset is incremental, it's 100 percent unregulated.

It talks about replacement capital.  In this particular case, it lists the methodology approved in the 2011-0038 case.  The percentage there assumes that it is a replacement of an existing storage asset, but the methodology would be such that if the asset had changed over time, the replacement allocation would be consistent with the new allocation.

So in the example in the undertaking that talks about Dawn plant J, the new blended percentages would be used for replacement assets.

MR. QUINN:  Now, specifically, I am looking at that undertaking, and it is still up on your screen.  It says:

"Allocate the portion of costs associated with increased efficiency and/or growth of the storage operation to the unregulated storage operation."

Stopping there, I am now reading the portion of costs -- the portion of capital costs associated with the increased efficiency.

Am I reading that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The question deals with project costs.  So yes, it is dealing with the costs of the capital expenditure.

So in that last section, if the capital project dealt with both the replacement and incremental capacity, then the proportion of the cost allocation would be as indicated in the undertaking response JT1.34.

MR. QUINN:  Then following that through, we -- and I guess I am going to turn to this -- we were trying to understand this allocation.

This one is a little more straightforward than others, frankly.  But we had asked in the undertaking response:

"Please provide the resulting increase in working capacity and deliverability."

Now, we said for each storage pool, but -- because I am understanding you keep this by pool now, but that wasn't provided, so we are trying to understand.

You have a methodology.  You were telling us you are following it.  We are asking:  Okay, how did that increase your working capacity and deliverability, but we don't have the information?  Would you undertake to provide the rest of that undertaking?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Dawn plant J is a compressor plant, and the compressor plant does not provide increased deliverability out of our storage pools.

MR. QUINN:  So when the work was undertaken, there was no resulting increase in throughput capability?

MS. VIENNEAU:  There was incremental horsepower.

MR. QUINN:  And incremental horsepower was invested to do what?

MS. VIENNEAU:  Pardon?

MR. QUINN:  The incremental horsepower, my presumption would be incremental horsepower provides additional throughput capability.

And that's why we were surprised we don't have that here.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I think the confusion is the question asked for working capacity and deliverability by storage pool.

This compressor is sitting at the Dawn station, has no impact on the pool deliverability.  It may be an impact on the overall deliverability through Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then, more precisely asked --and I think we have learned something in this process about the precision of the undertakings -- would you be able to provide the incremental throughput capacity that was enabled by this investment in the Dawn J plant over the previous Dawn A plant?

MR. SMITH: I guess the answer to that is, we can, but let me just pause and ask why, in that the entire cost of the incremental horsepower was charged to Union's unregulated business.

I can't imagine my friend is looking to move costs from the unregulated to the regulated business, although if he feels differently, let me know.

But all of those costs are already going to the unregulated business.  So we can provide the answer, but the net effect is going to be it's not going to make 100 percent more than 100 percent.

MR. QUINN:  No, I did not suspect -- sorry.

MS. HARE:  Yes, please.

MR. QUINN:  I didn't suspect it would go to more than 100 percent, but it follows the line of question.  We're trying to understand how these regulated and unregulated accounts are maintained.  Historically, space and deliverability were the two metrics that were used for allocations, including O&M.

Now we have an incremental capability that has been invested in, we would want to see what that incremental capability is, and then how it flows into subsequent O&M allocations, because those ought to evolve on an ongoing basis as more investment is made in the non-utility assets.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  To Mr. Smith's point, is the answer that you are looking for circumstances in which costs to the regulated portion have increased as a result of the application of the allocation methodology, or some additional aspects of an allocation methodology that had been sort of assumed or grafted onto the approved methodology?  Is that what you're driving at?

MR. QUINN:  It is the latter, sir, and that was well stated, concisely.

We have been following this very close, as you may well know, for the last couple of years.  We still don't understand how O&M allocations are being evolved with ongoing investment in non-utility.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Your concern or the thing you want to highlight is:  Are there situations in which costs have been added to the regulated utility that, according to the application of the methodology as you understand it, ought not to have been?  Is that your concern?

MR. QUINN:  Well, there is two concerns there, sir.

One is the costs that may have been added and -- we're frankly looking for documentation in the policy, and then we can ask questions under that policy to see it.

So on the capital side, it is the documentation of the policy, and then some level of comfort in terms of the allocations that were done on an annual basis.

But, in addition to that, there is -- now the composition of non-utility and utility has changed, how are the resulting O&M costs being evolved to recognize that change?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So would it not be possible to simply ask that question of the witness panel and ask them:  Are there circumstances in which the O&M allocation to the regulated operation have increased, and on what basis were those increases -- on what methodology were those increases developed?  Would that solve your problem?

MR. QUINN:  I think it would provide some assistance to understand the methodology.

I was actually hoping to see either an evidentiary reference or subsequently a documentation.  We can't find it.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. HARE:  Does Staff have anything to say on this issue?

MR. MILLAR:  This isn't an issue that we were pursuing.  I don't have a view.

MS. HARE:  We're going to take our morning break now and deliberate on the issues that have been raised, and we will come back at twenty to 11:00.

--- Recess taken at 10:20 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:55 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.


The Board requests that the applicant provide, by way of undertaking, a schedule that discloses how OM&A is being allocated, as between the regulated and unregulated assets, for 2013 on a storage pool-by-storage pool basis.


Please provide the rationale for the allocations affected, and whether the OM&A allocation should follow the capital cost allocation.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, 8.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.3:  TO PROVIDE A SCHEDULE DISCLOSING HOW OM&A IS BEING ALLOCATED AS BETWEEN THE REGULATED AND UNREGULATED ASSETS FOR 2013, ON A STORAGE POOL-BY-STORAGE POOL BASIS, AND TO PROVIDE RATIONALE FOR THE ALLOCATIONS AFFECTED AND WHETHER OM&A ALLOCATION SHOULD FOLLOW THE CAPITAL COST ALLOCATION.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Mr. Quinn, please continue.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you very much.  I am just trying to weave through my questions here.


I won't have any -- and I thank the Board for its understanding of the OM&A.  So I just want to focus, then, just on the capital component and then move forward to a couple of specific questions.


I guess the higher arching question here is:  Are the allocation factors that Union is using to allocate storage plant additions for, you know, a replacement maintenance project between utility and non-utility being updated to reflect non-utility plant additions for expansion projects similar to the plant J replacement of plant A?


MS. VIENNEAU:  The storage allocations that we used in the 2013 rate case were not updated to reflect the expansion.


Any expansion that was 100 percent unregulated has gone to the unregulated operation.


There have been a couple of pools that have had 100 percent unregulation, or had had a project that has had 100 percent unregulated work completed at it in the intervening years.


That allocation wasn't updated for the 2013 rate case, but when we looked at that now and have gone back and reviewed, there has been an immaterial impact to what would have been allocated regulated versus unregulated.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Could you define "immaterial"?


MS. VIENNEAU:  In 2012 the impact is approximately $50,000, and in 2013 the impact is approximately $25,000.


MR. QUINN:  And is that on the basis of space and deliverability?


MS. VIENNEAU:  It is on the basis similar to what is outlined in JT1.41, where we've done the original allocation based on the approved methodology by the Board, layering in the incremental cost of the additional storage capacity, which provides you with a new blended rate for the facility.


MR. QUINN:  I see Ryan is pulling up JT1.41.  I have it here.


In that example that was used, the regulated component was 62 percent going in, and coming out is 39 percent.


But you say that the result of your analysis is the change is immaterial?


MS. VIENNEAU:  This is an example, yes.


So when you look at the actual facilities that had a change in the intervening period and we apply that against the current forecast, the change is immaterial to what would be allocated regulated versus unregulated, from a capital spend perspective.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Can you provide for 2013 what the resulting space and deliverability is, between the regulated and unregulated?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.


MR. MILLAR:  J8.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.4:  to PROVIDE the RESULTING SPACE AND DELIVERABILITY BETWEEN REGULATED AND UNREGULATED FOR 2013.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I had a question, then, and I will just touch on it briefly to make -- I think I understand, based upon your answer.  I think I understand J1.28 now.  Okay.

MS. TAYLOR:  Ms. Vienneau -- I hope I pronounced that right -- when you answered Mr. Quinn's question -- is that on the basis of space and deliverability -- you answered it is on the basis similar to what is outlined in JT1.41.


MS. VIENNEAU:  Well, that is the methodology, sorry.  "Similar" maybe is the wrong word.


We looked at the original allocation of the facility that was approved by the Board, which was the 62.34 percent regulated, 37.66 percent unregulated.  We allocated 100 percent of the cost associated with the unregulated expansion to the unregulated operation, to come up with a new blended rate.


MS. TAYLOR:  So it is the methodology?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.


MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.


MR. QUINN:  I think it would be helpful, maybe, before we turn the page completely on this.  In the undertaking requested by the Panel, it asked for the underlying methodology for OM&A.


Could you provide specifically the underlying methodology that was used for the capital additions in 2013?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J8.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.5:  TO PROVIDE UNDERLYING THE METHODOLOGY USED FOR CAPITAL ADDITIONS IN 2013.

MR. QUINN:  Just one other storage issue before I get to transmission, I believe, if you could turn up
J.B-8-10-4.


MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes, I have that.


MR. QUINN:  In the reference we provided, it said that Union proposes to adjust transmission plant by negative 9.3 million and increase underground storage plant by an equal amount.  And we asked in part c):

"If Union does not propose to adjust non-utility storage plant, please explain why Union believes that no adjustment is required."


In the answer that was given, it says, the last sentence says:

"No allocation to non-utility storage plant is required, as these assets are within the Dawn yard providing regulated transmission services."


But in the paragraph ahead, it says the 9.3 million adjustment related to Tecumseh measurement and total measurement assets that are located in the Dawn yard that are classified as transmission.


I assume somebody on this panel knows the allocation methodology.  Are these assets to provide Enbridge with M12 and/or M16 services?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's my understanding, but you may want to confirm that with the rate design panel.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, maybe that is the more appropriate place, Ms. Elliott.  I think I will ask that specific question when they come up.


Okay.  So my next questions are regarding the separation -- first off, you are aware that CME, CCC, Kitchener and FRPO submitted evidence on the allocation methodologies for the Dawn-Parkway system between non-utility and utility?


Sorry, I led into that.  Are you aware that we submitted evidence in that regard?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I have read the evidence, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am not going to lead you through the detail, Ms. Elliott.  I just want to make sure I am speaking to the right panel in terms of the cost allocation matters between utility and ex-franchise.


Would it be this panel, or should we refer those questions more specifically to your cost allocation panel?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Those are questions that should go to the cost allocation panel.


The Parkway West would be, when it goes into service, a utility asset.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  My concern is -- we're going to have the Parkway West panel within this next day or so.  If we end up with cost allocation matters as a result of discussions with that panel, I assume, then, that panel 7 will be able to handle all of those questions between utility and ex-franchise services?


MR. SMITH:  I wasn't proposing that we would be dealing with any cost allocation or rate design questions in relation to Parkway West, given it is not coming in to rate base until October or November of 2014.

MR. QUINN:  We had an interest in understanding and helping the Board to understand the implications of Parkway West.  To the extent the evidence is on the record, I will ask our questions of the Parkway West panel, and to the extent we're deferred until 2014 for cost implications, then we will accept that.

With that, those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

My little hesitation here is whether or not, if there are still some unresolved questions at the end of the next panel, whether we will need a panel at the end, what used to be called the cleanup panel; in other words, you know, things that are still unresolved.  But let's just park that for now.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Thompson, I think you are next.  We delayed for you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  Not long enough.

[Laughter]

MR. THOMPSON:  Panel, let me just get my stuff together here.  For the first series, I have some questions about UFG and intra period WACOG, as I mentioned the other day, Ms. Elliott, and I assume these are for you?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  The starting point for the questions is the exhibit I filed with respect to in-franchise revenue, K2.3, if you might just turn that up.  And at page 1, we have gathered data that is presented in the exhibit that follows, J.O-4-14-1.

And you will see at line 6 a major contributor to the cumulative sufficiency, over in the right-hand column, of a total of 275 million is delivery-related gas costs of $132 million.  Do you see that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then if one looks at the variance analysis year by year that appears in pages 1 through 10 of J.O-4-14-1, what I drew from it was that two major contributors to that cumulative sufficiency amount over the six years were UFG and intra period WACOG.

Just stopping there, is that a fair conclusion to draw from what is stated in that undertaking -- in that interrogatory response?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I would agree with the characterization that UFG is a contributing factor to the revenue deficiency, but the intra period WACOG is essentially the price variance or the cost variance on cost of gas, so it's a revenue adjustment and a cost adjustment.  So that there will be no impact, other than some inventory -- some return on inventory carrying costs, which would be relatively minor.

There would be no impact coming from what we refer to as intra period WACOG.  That's simply the variance due to cost of gas changes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So do I understand that answer to mean that there is an offsetting revenue decline in the total at line 5 related to intra period WACOG, or is it all reflected in line 6?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No, it will most likely be in line 5.  So when the revenue goes down, it goes down as a result of a cost decrease.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So do you happen to know what the revenue and cost adjustment is for intra period WACOG on a cumulative basis?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't have that information, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you undertake to provide that?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J8.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.6:  TO PROVIDE REVENUE AND COST ADJUSTMENT FOR INTRA PERIOD WACOG ON A CUMULATIVE BASIS.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, let's just focus on the intra period WACOG, if we might.  And in that connection, I believe we find detail on that in the D3, 4 and 5 material.

I believe it is at -- starting, for example, D3, tab 2, schedule 2 will give us some data on that issue for the year 2013.  Am I correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And, similarly, if we look at the same schedules in D4 and D5 and D6, we can see the history of this item going back to 2006; is that fair?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so the volume, the actual volume UFG 103 m3 I've extracted from these documents, and would you take, subject to check, that in 2006 it was 154,015; 2007, 103,713; 2008, 143,880; 2009, 201,845; 2010, 67,283; and 2011, 35,668 103 m3?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And what is the explanation for this significant drop 2009 to 2010, and then 2010 to 2011, from 200,000 down to 35,000?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We don't actually have a precise explanation of the variance.  As you will note by looking through those numbers, it is a variable component of our revenue requirement.

It went up from the 154,000 number in 2006 to 203,000 in 2007, and it has been coming down, but it went back up again in 2009.

We are experiencing a decrease.  We are actively looking at that activity and working to understand it, but, as the title refers, it is unaccounted for.  It's the difference between measurement all across our system throughout the distribution area, through the transmission system, as well as storage, and it does tend to vary significantly.

We are fortunately seeing it decrease over the last couple of years, but that is not necessarily an indicator of where it will end in any given year.

MR. THOMPSON:  No, I appreciate that, but do you have any explanation?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There is nothing we can point to to explain the significant reduction in unaccounted for, other than the fact that we're actively monitoring and investigating and working on getting a good number and trying to remove some of the volatility out of it.

But we don't have anything we can point to that says why it's gone down.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Do you track it on a monthly basis?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We track it on a monthly basis.

I would say that you have to look at it over a seasonal basis and over the course of the year, because in any given month you may have timing or cut-off issues, but yes, we do track it on a monthly basis.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So 2012 to date, are we tracking at this low level that was experienced in 2011?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We're tracking at the average rate.  So when we look at the methodology for coming up with a forecast or a projection, we use an averaging methodology, which is weighted average.

So for 2012, we would be looking at an average of 2009, '10 and '11, with 2011 weighted most heavily, and yes, we are tracking at this point -- 2012 is tracking very close to its weighted average, which is higher than the 2011 actuals.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, do we see that number on Exhibit D5, tab 2, schedule 2, the number to which you are tracking?  Is it at line 8 or...

MS. ELLIOTT:  I would say it is probably D4, would be the 2012 number.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry, I missed that.

MS ELLIOTT:  Exhibit D4 would be the 2012 weighted average.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Okay.  And which number is it in Exhibit D4, tab 2, schedule 2?  The one at line 4 or the one at line 8?  Or something else?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It would be -- I guess my read of the schedule, it would be lines 9 -- the product of lines 9 and 10, which is on line 11.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that is the fulcrum that you use to track, as I understand what you're saying?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  The baseline?  All right.  Thanks.

Okay.  Now, could you just explain how that number is derived for 2013?  The rationale behind it, and how it's derived?

MS. ELLIOTT:  So the methodology for arriving at the estimated unaccounted-for gas in any given year is the -- as I said, the weighted average of the last three years' actual experience.  So for 2013, we obviously don't have 2012 experience, so we're still using 2011 -- the three-year average ending with 2011.

So we take the actuals, which are represented on lines 1, 2 and 3 for each of those years.  And they get weighted -- basically it's a three-two-one weighting -- to get an actual UFG.  We take a look at the throughput for those same three years to get a ratio of unaccounted-for gas losses over volumes handled, and then we multiply that ratio against the forecast throughput for the year.

MR. THOMPSON:  So at lines 5, 6 and 7, that is system throughput?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so for the purposes of 2013, then, the dollar allowance for UFG is as shown in this exhibit, $14,234,000; is that right?

It has "estimated UFG"?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The exhibit that is up on the screen is 2012, but if we looked at the 2013 exhibit --


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, D3, tab 2, schedule 2?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  So the ratio for 2013 and 2012 are exactly the same, because they're using the same set of data.

The throughput for 2013 is showing on line 10.  So the estimated unaccounted-for gas volume in '13 is the 70,253.

Multiply that times the WACOG used in the forecast, and you get the $14 million that is included in the revenue requirement calculation.

MR. THOMPSON:  But is that the amount what will be included in the derivation of rates?  Or is that something is going to be trued up later?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  That's the amount that will be included in the rates for 2013.

MR. THOMPSON:  And am I correct that whatever happens, that number doesn't change?  If it's lower dollar-wise, it's a gain for the shareholder; if it is higher dollar-wise, it's a win for the ratepayer?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Any cost of gas changes would be captured in the delivery rate change in each QRAM, so as the cost of gas changes, that dollar value will change but the volume will not.

If the actual volume experienced is higher or lower, the shareholder is exposed to that variance.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.

Now, in terms of the amount in line 6 of page 1 of our compendium for the in-franchise revenue, K2.3, I was interested if you could tell us what the UFG contribution to that was over the six years shown in -- on page 1 and derived from the material that follows.

There is some -- I think some information on that in the record by way of responses to undertakings during the course of the technical conference, and I have it here somewhere.

But do you happen to have those numbers handy?

Well, here's what I was looking for.  In J.0-4-4-2, in the last -- that's not on the screen yet.  J.0-4-4-2, and it is the bottom of page 1.

There is a statement that UFG decreased significantly over the years 2008 to 2011, decreasing from 56.2 million to 8.0 million.  It goes on and describes this resulted in earnings adjustments, and then it describes that the UFG cost in 2013 will be 38.2 million below what it was in 2008.

Have I paraphrased that correctly?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Could I just see the top of page 2?  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But trying to get this year-by-year was a little confusing to me.

If you go now to Exhibit JT1.56, we have the UFG at line -- the third line in this presentation.  And unfortunately, it is described as "net of intra-period WACOG" and it is showing, as I read it, a contribution to the sufficiency in '08 and '09, but a reduction to the sufficiency in 2010 and 2011.

Am I reading that correctly?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I think you are reading it backwards.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I would interpret this line, when it says "net of intra-period WACOG", this line should be the volume variance only.  So the price variance or the cost of gas variance has been adjusted out.

So looking at this, 2008 and 2009, the costs were higher than Board-approved.  Sorry, the volume was higher than Board-approved.  And in '10 and '11, the volume is lower than Board-approved.  So it's a net favourable contributor to the earnings over the period.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So coming back to page 1 of the compendium, would it be possible, then -- what I hear you saying is that in 2008 UFG was actually not contributing to sufficiency.  It was an increased cost of $3.9 million; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  That's the way I am reading this.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then the next, 2009, again, not a contributor to sufficiency, but a cost of $11.4 million?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  The volumes were higher than Board-approved in 2009.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that would be, I guess, a $7.5 million change from 2008?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  The volumes in 2009 were higher than 2008.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then in 2010 it's going the other direction.  So in terms of change from 2010 to 2009,
it's -- it would be the 18.4 plus the 7.5; right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  18.4 is relative to the Board-approved in 2010.  The difference between 2008 -- or 2009 and 2010 would be the 11.4, plus the 18.4.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, could I ask you to do this by way of undertaking, to break out that line 6 between intra period WACOG and UFG, rather than me trying to do it on the record here?  Is that possible?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, it's possible.  I believe we gave an undertaking already related to intra period WACOG, so I'm not quite sure what we're being asked to do that is incremental.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, to show the UFG piece of the delivery-related gas cost, line item 6.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J8.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.7:  WITH REFERENCE TO EXHIBIT JT1.56, LINE ITEM 6, TO BREAK OUT UFG PIECE OF DELIVERY-RELATED GAS COST

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  Okay.  And I now have some questions, which I assume go to this finance panel, related to the consolidated financials that appear in A3, Exhibit A3; A3, tab 1, pages 1 to 5.  Is this part of your bailiwick, Ms. Elliott?

MS. ELLIOTT:  These are forecast financial schedules, but I can try.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, so first of all, can you tell me what they cover, the consolidated statements of income for -- is it Union Gas Limited?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It would be the Union Gas -- those would be the Union Gas consolidated financial statements comparable to our external financial statements.

MR. THOMPSON:  So it would be comparable to what's in the annual reports?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And it would be comparable to what the rating agencies evaluate?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so it includes storage -- all storage and transportation activities?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it does.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And is it then or are those statements -- let me put it this way.  In Exhibit
J.O-4-15-1 there are some presentations made to the Union's executive team or board of directors.  Would these be the equivalent of the consolidated statements that we have at Exhibit A3, tab 1, page 1?  I appreciate these are not statements.  They're forward-looking.  But are they the same numbers?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, then I asked by way of e-mail yesterday of your counsel and other representatives of Union, with respect to J.O-4-15-1, whether the Board has an unredacted copy of this document.

MR. SMITH:  It does not.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I thought the practice was, before you made redactions, you had to send an unredacted copy to the Board and ask that the redactions be permitted.

I take it that's not been done?

MR. SMITH:  This isn't a question of confidentiality.  The portions that -- which is what the policy would relate to.

These are -- the portions that are redacted relate to unregulated operations, and that's the reason why they have been redacted, not because they're confidential, the distinction being the Board has made a decision with respect to refraining from regulating the storage operation.  And so it is a question of relevance, not a question of confidentiality.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I don't know whether I should be arguing that now or later, but let me -- perhaps if I could just get the information, a better understanding of what's been taken out of this document, and then I can make some submissions on your point, Mr. Smith.

So at line 2, S&T, there is a redaction across the board for S&T operating revenue.  Am I right, Ms. Elliott?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  But yet that information would appear at Exhibit A, tab 3 -- Exhibit A, tab 1 and would appear for 2010 and 2011 in your published financial statements?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, then a little further down there is a line "Stretch/Deficiency".  What does that refer to?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That would refer to additional shortfalls between the numbers and the targets.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that's, what, an internal management tool?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then we drop down a little further.  "HTLP Income/Loss", what's that refer to?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's Huron Tipperary Limited Partnership.  That's the joint venture we have with Tribute Resources.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that information excluded here, but it would appear in the A3 material and the financials?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  The difference is it doesn't appear in the financials as a separate line item.  It is consolidated on the financial statement line items.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then the "Other Income/Loss", what does that refer to?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Those would be other items that aren't included in the operating expenses or operating revenues.

MR. THOMPSON:  Like what?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Foreign exchange.  Gains or losses may appear there.  Gains or losses on the sale of land would appear there.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Then the "next earnings before interest, taxes, (EBIT Canadian GAAP)," is that merely a subtraction from some -- the numbers above?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then the "USGAAP adjustment," what's that all about?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There is a difference between the pension expense that we report in Canada and the pension expense we report for the US parent, because of purchase accounting.  Part of the pension costs were taken into account by the parent at the point of purchase.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that information not -- I thought that was all being presented to this Board for some sort of relief?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Not the US reporting difference.

When Duke Energy or what is now Spectra Energy acquired Westcoast, they would have made a purchase accounting adjustment to recognize some of the pension costs at that point in time.

Those are not recognized -- those are being accounted for on the Canadian statements.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So is that adjustment in the A3 information, or no?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  The A3 information will be the Canadian reporting for Union Gas.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so -- and is all of the black stuff below that heading "Adjustment", or is there something else in there?

In other words, have words been blacked out in this piece, or just numbers?  And if they're words --


MS. ELLIOTT:  I have the same copy you do, so I'm assuming there was something on the lines that were blacked out.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you undertake to tell us what the words are, please?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J8.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.8:  WITH RESPECT TO J.O-4-15-1, TO PROVIDE THE WORDS UNDER THE HEADINGS "ADJUSTMENT" AND "EARNINGS SHARING" AND "CAPITAL EXPENDITURES"

MR. THOMPSON:  And then dropping down, we have "gas distribution, EBIT, USGAAP."  I take it that is, again, a net of what's appeared above?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then we have "earnings sharing" and that is okay.  Then there is, again, blacked material at the bottom, which appears that words have been blacked out as well as some numbers.

And if that's correct, would you undertake to tell us what the words are, please?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J8.9.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then when we flip over to the third page of this document --


MS. HARE:  Can I just interrupt for a second?  Really, 8.8 and 8.9, they could be combined as one undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  We will just call it 8.8.

MS. HARE:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  I am looking at -- my fellow panellist says there may be more coming.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  There is actually one further page of -- well, sorry.  Not quite.

A few more pages.  If you go to page 3 -- well, it is the third page in.  We are now at "S&T revenue" and there is a series of items blacked out there related to -- it is called "unregulated storage," and then I assume the other line items are merely subtractions of -- that take into account those numbers?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  But those numbers would be presented in what is in your financials, public financials, and in the Exhibit A3 numbers?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The total storage is presented in the financials, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

Then if you go over a few more pages, you get to "capital expenditures," and again, there is a whole lot of numbers blacked out, but also it appears that there are a number of words blacked out.

Could you add to the undertaking, just giving the particulars of the words that have been blacked out?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the next page, "earnings before interest and taxes," it appears that -- no, sorry.  This is attachment 2, which is the -- which I understand will be just a repeat of attachment 1; am I correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the undertakings that you have given will give us the words that would appear in attachment 2; am I correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so coming back, then, to page 1 of this attachment 1, and the equivalent would be -- well, let's just look at page 1 of attachment 2.

This would be, would it not, the earnings picture that the rating agencies would be interested in when they're evaluating Union Gas Limited?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And do the ratings agencies have that information?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Or a similar presentation, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, included in that, then, is the unregulated storage revenue that's been discussed.  And that stems from the Board's NGEIR decision; can we agree on that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  It was the -- and perhaps what you could do -- I distributed this to your counsel, or to Mr. Ripley, I guess, on Friday.  It was a document that was filed in the 0038 proceedings, and it had an exhibit number, which I have just forgotten.  My apologies.  But let me, first of all, get the paper that I want to file.

It was a calculation that was done in that proceeding of the return on equity of the unregulated storage investment; do you recall that calculation, Ms. Elliott?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So let me just file that, if I might.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, it will be Exhibit K8.1, and it is attachment 1 from the EB-2011-0038 proceeding.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.1:  ATTACHMENT 1 FROM THE EB-2011-0038 PROCEEDING.

MR. THOMPSON:  I will have to undertake to get the exhibit number from that proceeding.  It's K-something-point-4, I believe, but I just don't have it in my notes at the moment.

If I can do that at the break, Madam Chair, that would be appreciated.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so what this exhibit is showing, as I understand it, Ms. Elliott, is the equity return on the unregulated storage for '08, '09 and '10, and it's reflecting the allocation of the long-term storage premium subsidy to ratepayers at line 7.

That declined over the years and is now zero?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's fair?  So we can do the math, but in a scenario where the long-term storage premium subsidy to ratepayers is zero, just taking 2010 as an example, the return on equity would be higher.  It wouldn't be 50.67 -- we can do the math -- it would be something greater, and I have done it but I don't have my numbers in front of me.

MS. ELLIOTT:  If you removed the reduction in 2010, the return on equity would be higher, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that increment to equity is one of the factors that's contributing to a very improved interest coverage ratio for Union; is that fair?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I'm not sure I can speak to the trend in interest coverage ratios.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I thought we had evidence it was up around 2.7, something, but, again, in the A exhibit, the A3 exhibit, there are some rating agency reports.  And I'm looking, for example, at A3, tab 6, which is a DBRS report, and there is an interest earnings before income taxes interest expense coverage ratio shown there, 1.9 in 2006 up to 2.4 in 2010.

So it appears to be trending favourably.  Is that a fair conclusion to draw?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I may be looking at a different version than you, but, yes, it has increased between 2005 and 2010.

MR. THOMPSON:  And my understanding is that it's in the order of 2.76 now; is that correct?  Is that your understanding?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't have the interest coverage information.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, would you take it subject to check?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  The only point I wanted to make is it was the Board's decision in NGEIR -- it was something the Board did that has contributed, in part, to that favourable outcome.  Would you agree?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Well, more than what the Board did.  The actions that management took to invest in additional storage investments contributed to that outcome, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, which comes first, the chicken or the egg?  It is a combination, I would think.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The Board's decision led to an environment where the company increased its investment in storage.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And with or without that investment, the returns increased because the premium on long-term storage was gradually -- the portion of the premium paid to ratepayers was gradually eliminated?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That was part of the package in the Board's NGEIR decision.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

Now, if you could just give me -- I wonder, Madam Chair, if I could just have a five-minute break.  I don't have very much left.  I just wanted to check my notes to see what else I might have.  If you could give me that accommodation, I would greatly appreciate it.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.  We will take a five-minute break.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

--- Recess taken at 11:49 a.m.

--- On resuming at 12:00 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Okay.  Mr. Thompson, are you ready to resume?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you very much for the indulgence, Madam Chair.  I just have a couple of other areas.

Ms. Elliott, I am hoping you can help me here, but this stems from the discussion that took place on Friday with the last panel, and it relates to an undertaking that's been given to Ms. Taylor about coming up with those net proceeds in respect of one of the interrogatory responses.

Do you recall that discussion?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  There was a discussion between Mr. Quinn and Mr. Isherwood that prompts this question.  And I would -- I will ask it of you, and if you can't answer it, perhaps it can be addressed in the undertaking response.

But as a result of that question and discussion, I was left with the impression that there may be some consideration flowing between Union and the marketers in connection with what you were calling these exchange transactions, that is not going to show up in the net proceeds calculation.

And my question is:  Are there any overrides that Union realizes from what the marketers make with the assigned FT and its associated RAM credits?  And, if so, could you provide us with those details and where those monies are being accounted for?

Do you know the answer to that question?

MR. SMITH:  Perhaps for my edification, if not Ms. Elliott's, you can tell me what you mean by "overrides"?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what I mean by an "override" is where the marketer has taken these FT assignments with the associated RAM credits for the purposes of enhancing its business opportunities.

My question is:  Does Union get a share from the marketer in any of those marketer-enhanced opportunities?

MS. ELLIOTT:  To the extent that there is a financial transaction between Union and the marketer, that will be recorded in the accounts and should be part of the net proceeds transaction.

So the marketer is paying Union for the exchange service.  Those payments should be showing up in the net proceeds transaction.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the way I am interpreting that - and you tell me if I've got this wrong - is you're saying if there are such amounts being paid by the marketer, linked to what it does with its -- those RAM credits, amounts being paid to Union for some of that, that is going to show up in the net proceeds calculation that's been undertaken?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  The calculation should show the financial transactions between Union and the marketer.

MR. THOMPSON:  All of them?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Thompson, just before you go on, when you are undertaking these type of marketing transactions, is it always financial consideration?  Or do you take some sort of payment in kind or exchange credits or any other form of non-cash compensation for these trades?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I am not aware of any transactions we have entered into that would involve non-cash compensation.  So there would always --


MS. TAYLOR:  Transportation credits or anything else?  In which case, how do you record the value for those, what I will say, payments in kind, if they occur?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  The compensation between Union and the marketer would result in a financial transaction.

We may exchange molecules between location A and B, but there would be a financial transaction that would record the exchange revenue.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  I did have some questions about the separate reporting of storage and transportation, but I understand Mr. Millar is going to go into that, so I won't.  So that just leaves me, Madam Chair, with my brief submissions about the redacted version of that exhibit, J.0-4-15-1.

My submission is -- in that this is essentially what
-- the information in here that's been redacted is essentially what is in the historic information, as well as the forecast information in the A3 material that the Board should have an unredacted version of J.0-4-15-1, particularly because it is the kind of information that has been passed on to the rating agencies and upon which Union Gas Limited's credit rating will be determined.

And I submit that you should have, in confidence, what Union's board of directors has with respect to its business activities that affect its cost of capital.

I submit intervenors should also have it in confidence, too, but step one is for you to, in my submission, take a look at it, unredacted.

MS. HARE:  Are those the extent to your submissions, Mr. Thompson?  Because we thought we would actually deal with this at end of day.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then, well, that's fine, Madam Chair.  I think I will have something to add.

[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Good.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  I wait with bated breath.

[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  Sorry?

MR. SMITH:  I wait with bated breath.

[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  Mr. MacIntosh, do you have any cross-examination?  No?  Thank you.  So Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Please keep in mind that we do have a hard stop probably at 12:25 --


MR. MILLAR:  I expect to be done --


MS. HARE:  -- given the meeting is 12:30.

MR. MILLAR:  I will be done comfortably before then, I think.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  As Mr. Thompson alluded to, I have some questions about segmenting of your audited financial statements.

Just to set the plate for this, I expect many of these questions will be for you, Ms. Elliott.

You can confirm for me that Union prepares a single set of audited financial statements for Union Gas Limited?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And this includes both the regulated and unregulated side of the business?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So there is no segmentation?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There is no segmentation.

MR. MILLAR:  You will recall that Board Staff asked you about this in Interrogatory J.D-15-1-1?  Again, that is J.D-15-1-1.  It is up on your screen now.

We asked you in the context of the natural gas Triple-R, the reporting requirements.  Again, just to provide the background, I will provide the quote from the Triple-R; I think it is just a single page so you may be able to just review it on the screen there.

This is what the Triple-R states:

"A utility shall provide the Board annually, by the last day of the fourth month after the financial year-end, audited financial statements."

Then the next sentence, which we have in bold, states:

"Where the financial statements of the corporate entity regulated by the Board contain material businesses not regulated by the Board, the utility shall disclose the information separately according to the segment disclosure provisions of the CICA Handbook."

Then if you skip down to question a), we ask:

"Please explain whether the unregulated business is considered by Union as material business in 2010 and 2011."

Your response:
"Union does not consider its unregulated business a reportable segment as defined by the CICA Handbook."

Do you see that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Just pausing there for a moment, the test as identified in the Triple-Rs is whether or not the business is material; would you agree with me on that point?

Again, I am taking that from the bolded statement -- pardon me, the bolded sentence we have above.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And it doesn't say that you only have to file segmented statements if the business is defined as a reportable segment by the CICA Handbook; would you agree with me on that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  I think that's where I disagree with you.

I read the requirement to disclose the information separately, following the accounting standards.  And the accounting standards, when we look at them, the -- we don't meet the requirement for segment information, so we don't report it.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, that's helpful.  I think that may be a matter for argument, which I will pick up there.  And we may agree to disagree on that, but I understand your position on that, so thank you.

So why don't we look at the test from the CICA Handbook?

You will recall you had a discussion with Ms. Lea in the technical conference on this, and arising from that there was an undertaking and that is Undertaking JT1.26.
MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You provided there the thresholds as provided in the CICA Handbook for segmented disclosure?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And the quantitative threshold, as we see expressed there, states:
"An enterprise should disclose separately information about an operating segment that meets any of the following quantitative thresholds..."

Just to summarize them, the first one is if the reported revenue is 10 percent of the total; is that fair?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  The second one is whether the profit or loss is more than 10 percent of the total.  Have I got that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And the final one is whether the assets are 10 percent more of the total; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Then you state the only quantitative test that you could perform, based on the information available, is the first of those, the revenue test?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  That's the only discrete information we have available.

MR. MILLAR:  Then you state that is 6 percent of the total revenue; is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I think you got that information from your statement of utility income, or that is one place where we can find those numbers.  That would be Exhibit F4, tab 2, schedule 1.  These would be the statement -- the statement of utility income from 2012.

And if I look at line 6 of that document, we see the
-- I guess these are the operating revenues, line 6, for the entire corporation.  It is 1.7 billion, of which 117 million comes from unregulated storage, and that's about 6 percent.  Is that where we get that 6 percent figure?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, if we skip down to line 14 of the statement of utility income, this is the operating income where you've subtracted the expenses from the operating revenue; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And under that, the corporate operating income is about 368 million, and the unregulated storage about 90-and-a-half million; is that fair?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you take, subject to check that, that that unregulated storage is about 24 percent of the total?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The unregulated, yes, this is actually the -- I would say the EBIT calculation, but, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, and if you skip down to line 20, the EBIT calculation, the numbers are slightly different, of course, but it is about 24 percent of the -- the unregulated storage makes up about 24 percent of the EBIT?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Then I don't think you need to turn to this, but if you look for the statement of utility income for 2011 - that's F5, tab 2, schedule 1 - the numbers are a little bit different, but broadly they're similar.

On operating revenue, it is still about 6 percent, but for the operating income and EBIT, it is about 22 percent.  Would you take that subject to check?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, this is something you will probably be able to help me with, because it is not, by any stretch, my area of expertise, but how are the operating income or the EBIT different from reported profit, the (b) test?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Profit and loss would be earnings after interest and income taxes, and we don't have a discrete quantifiable interest and taxes number for the storage operation. We only have the EBIT information for the unregulated storage.

What we have -- what we do is provide an allocation of assets and do a calculation, much the same as the utility calculation when we present information to the regulator, but we don't have a distinct set of financials for the storage operation that include interest and taxes.

MR. MILLAR:  So what you're missing are the interest and taxes numbers for the unregulated storage business?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You don't have those?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We don't have those.

MR. MILLAR:  You would if you had -- or I shouldn't say you would.  Would you, if you prepared separate audited financial statements?

MS. ELLIOTT:  They would all be a product of an allocation exercise, so they wouldn't be separately identifiable and distinct.  They're allocations of the corporate assets.

MR. MILLAR:  For operating income and EBIT, you are comfortably over 10 percent.  In fact, you're comfortably over 20 percent for both 2011 and 2012.

Do you have any reason to believe, if you could include the numbers for interest and taxes for unregulated storage, that you would fall below 10 percent?  That's not likely, is it?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't have that information, but, no, it's not likely.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  In any event, this discussion aside on whether or not you meet any of the three thresholds from the CICA Handbook, would you agree with me that over 20 percent of operating income, that the unregulated storage -- that unregulated storage is a material business for Union Gas?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I'm not disagreeing that it's not a material business or not a material operation.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we might have had too many negatives in there.  Just to be clear, you don't agree it is a material business?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It's material.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Would having separate financial -- pardon me, audited financial statements for the regulated business be a difficult thing to do?  Obviously it could cost some money, I assume, but are there any significant technical or operational challenges to doing that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I would say, yes.  One would be to determine how to arrive at the numbers to audit, and then to have the auditors look at that information.

So we are dealing with allocations where the auditors are looking at the financial records.  They're looking at the assets, the interest, the taxes in its entirety.

They are not looking at the component parts or the allocations or the splits between utility and unregulated storage.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we're talking about something different here.  Aren't the allocations already done?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We provide allocations when we're reporting to the regulator, but that's just -- that's what they are.  They're allocations of the total that the auditors see.

MR. MILLAR:  So this is something your auditors would have to review and check on?

MS. ELLIOTT:  They would have to review the methodology and they would have to come up with a way to audit allocations, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And that might be a task that required some work, but that is something auditors do; right?  That's something that could be done?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I'm sure you can -- we can retain them to do that, but it would be an expensive proposition and it would require some additional financial record keeping on our part.

MR. MILLAR:  You wouldn't have any guesstimate on the costs of that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  I recall we asked something similar of OPG, and you may not at all be familiar with this.  They have a significant regulated versus unregulated portion to their operations.

They gave us a guesstimate of about $400,000 or something to do this.  Again, without trying to put you on the spot, does that sound in the ballpark or are you able to comment?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That sounds about the right range, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Finally, your current audited financial statements, I guess the last ones we have are those for 2011 --


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  -- or you only have 2010?  Those are prepared under CGAAP, is that right, or are they under USGAAP?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The 2011 financial statements were prepared under Canadian GAAP.

MR. MILLAR:  Going forward, you will move to USGAAP?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  We have reported first quarter results for 2012 under USGAAP.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me that to the extent the Board decides to ask you to file segmented statements, they should be also in USGAAP going forward as opposed to -- it should be consistent?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Smith, do you have re-direct questions?
Re-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  I do, and I promise you I will be short so that we will be done before 12:30.

Just one question, Ms. Elliott.  You were taken to the undertaking given during the technical conference to Ms. Lea, and Mr. Millar took you to that.

Oh, we were just there.  The undertaking asked a question in relation to the quantitative threshold.  Is the quantitative threshold the only test set out in the CICA Handbook at section 1701?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  The other test is one of the management information and what the operating -- the decision maker of the company uses for decision making.

MR. SMITH:  How does Union Gas fare in relation to that test?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The information that is being requested is not prepared or provided.  The information that we use is simply the revenue information.

MR. SMITH:  What's the relationship between the quantitative test and the management reporting test you have just described?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In terms of the handbook and the accounting pronouncements, I would say the quantitative test.  Management's decision making takes precedent, and the threshold is the secondary test.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I wonder if we could get a copy, between Board Staff or the applicant, of CICA's 1701?

MR. SMITH:  Certainly.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  We will break, then, for our lunch break until 1:45, and, Mr. Smith, then you will have your next panel available?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  The Parkway West?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Thank you very much, panel.  Your testimony was helpful.  You are now excused.  Thank you.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:21 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:46 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Are there any preliminary matters?  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  No, Madam Chair.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. HARE:  I wanted to address the exhibit that we were speaking about earlier today.  J.0-4-15-1, attachments 1 and 2.

What we will do is ask for submissions after we see the undertaking response, which will include some of the wording and not the numbers, and then we will hear submissions.

So we will advise as to when that will be, after we get that undertaking response.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, there is one brief thing.

I note that I think Union has distributed - maybe Mr. Smith was just getting to this - the general accounting section, 1701, that you requested earlier this morning.

I don't know if you have copies; if you don't, I will bring them to you.

But I propose we give that an exhibit number, and that will be K8.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.2:  SECTION 1701, GENERAL ACCOUNTING.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We don't have copies here.

So with that, Mr. Smith, you are ready to introduce your panel?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, I am.  And I would ask that Mr. Matt Wood, furthest from me, and Mr. Jim Redford come forward and be sworn, please.  This is our Parkway panel.
UNION GAS – PANEL 6

Matthew Wood, Sworn


James Gordon Redford, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

Maybe we will start with you, Mr. Redford.  I understand that you are the director of business development and strategic accounts at Union Gas Limited?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that's a position you assumed earlier this year?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you were the director of business development, a position you assumed in 2011?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And what are your responsibilities as director of business development and strategic accounts?

MR. REDFORD:  My responsibilities with respect to business development are really growth of our system and growth of our storage and transportation assets.

With respect to strategic accounts, really directing our activities around our three largest M12 customers.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you started with Union Gas in about 2001?

MR. REDFORD:  Actually, I starred with Union Gas in 1989.

MR. SMITH:  Oh, you're right.  Yes.

And then you had positions with Maritimes and with St. Clair, but other than that have been with Union Gas since about 1990 -- since 1989?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.  And my time with St. Clair Pipelines was really directed around market hub partners and its storage.

MR. SMITH:  I gather that you are a professional engineer?

MR. REDFORD:  Indeed.

MR. SMITH:  And you have a bachelor of applied science in geological engineering from the University of Toronto, which you obtained in 1987?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you are a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you testified in the NGEIR proceeding?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, I did.

MR. SMITH:  And you have testified on a few occasions in front of the National Energy Board?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And were you responsible or did you assist in the preparation of the evidence at B1, tab 9, in relation to Parkway West?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, I did.

MR. SMITH:  Do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?

MR. REDFORD:  I do adopt that evidence, with -- and I do have one correction to that evidence.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And what is that, sir?

MR. REDFORD:  At Exhibit J.B-1-1-2 and again at Exhibit J.B-1-7-12, we had talked about the loss of a Parkway B outage and a Parkway A outage.

When I did the math, I subtracted from three pJs a day, and really should have subtracted from 2.54 pJs a day.  So we had said that a loss of Parkway B results in 1.6 pJs a day, a loss, and really that loss is 1.1 pJs a day.

And for the Parkway A outage, I had said one pJ a day, and that should be 0.5 pJs a day.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  And similarly, do you adopt the answers to interrogatories given in relation to the evidence for the purposes of testifying today?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Subject to --


MR. REDFORD:  Subject to what I just said.

MR. SMOTH:  Subject to the corrections.

Mr. Wood, turning to you, I understand that you are the manager of system planning for Union Gas?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that's a position you have held since 2011?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that you have been with Union Gas since 2004?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And as the manager of system planning, sir, what are your responsibilities?

MR. WOOD:  My responsibilities include planning on Union's three main transmission systems, the Dawn-to-Parkway system, the Panhandle system and the Sarnia industrial system.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have a master's of management science from the University of Waterloo?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  You have an engineering science degree from Western University?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And this is your first time testifying before the Board?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Were you responsible or did you assist in the preparation of Union's Parkway West evidence?

MR. WOOD:  I assisted.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying here today?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And equally, in relation to the answers to undertakings, do you adopt that evidence or the answers given in relation to Parkway West for the purposes of testifying today?

MR. WOOD:  I do, with a few corrections.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Why don't you tell us what those are, sir?

MR. WOOD:  In J.B-1-7-5, the table provided in the original IR response was an incorrect version from an earlier draft.  So we -- I will be providing the correct table.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And J.B-1-7-1, part c)?

MR. WOOD:  In J.B-1-7-1 part c), we did not include the in-franchise demands that travel through Parkway compression, and those updated values I will provide, as well.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, you should have a short sheet that looks like this, which just corrects for the interrogatories -- or those portions of the interrogatories where there was an error.

MS. HARE:  Yes, we have that.  Should we give that an exhibit number?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think so, Madam Chair.  K8.3, and that is corrections to certain interrogatory responses.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.3:  CORRECTIONS TO CERTAIN INTERROGATORY RESPONSES.

MR. SMITH:  And just for informational purposes, there is a second page attached to the handout that we had given.

Mr. Cameron had asked -- had provided a table that he had asked us to look at and correct, if necessary, and we have corrected it.  So his table is what you see on the second page.

So I assume he is going to ask some questions about it; I just thought it would be easier if we distributed it all at one time.

Finally, J.B-1-7-14 part 7 appears to be a correction to that; can you just advise us what that involves, Mr. Wood?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.  J.B-1-7-14 part f), the numbers used were taken from J.B-1-7-1, so those numbers were corrected, as well.

MR. SMITH:  I see.  So you have just flowed through the correction?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Just a couple of brief questions for you, Mr. Redford, before I tender you for cross-examination.

Can you please provide for the Panel a description, a high-level description, of the Parkway West project and what it involves?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, I can.  The Parkway West project is a reliability project.  It really has two components.

First component is a loss of critical unit provision for coverage of the existing Parkway compressors.  That will be a new compressor located on a new site.

The second item would be a second feed for Enbridge at Parkway to -- for Parkway Consumers, and the Lisgar feed back-up.

MR. SMITH:  And just so it is clear for the record, what is Lisgar, and what is Parkway Consumers?

MR. REDFORD:  Lisgar and Parkway Consumers are locations at Parkway where Union delivers into the Enbridge delivery system.  And that volume between the two locations is about 1.6 pJs a day.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Can you just tell me why Union has proposed the project?

MR. REDFORD:  Union -- well, there's two components.

So the LCU, we started looking at LCU, loss of critical unit coverage, as early as 2010.  And, really, it is a result of increased flows through Parkway.

In 2005, Parkway discharged about a half a pJ a day into the TCPL system.  Today it is about four times that, and we predict that to grow to about 3 pJs per day.  And that's -- really, it's the only spot in our system and, as near as we can tell, in the transmission system in Ontario that is without loss of critical unit protection.

The second feed into Enbridge, we started discussing with Enbridge some reliability concerns that they had about feeding their system, and it was an item that Enbridge had brought up in discussions.  As part of those discussions, Enbridge had looked at a third feed into the Toronto area, into the GTA.

We talked about Parkway West and a second feed for that Parkway (Cons) and Lisgar as a means of satisfying the reliability for the Parkway (Cons) and Lisgar volumes.

MR. SMITH:  Can you just tell me the approvals being sought by Union in this proceeding in relation to the project?

MR. REDFORD:  We are seeking no approvals.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  That being the case, when do you anticipate seeing approvals?

MR. REDFORD:  We would file a leave to construct application in September or October of this year for the components of the project which would be typically covered under leave to construct.  We would look for approval for pipeline headers between the Dawn-Trafalgar system and the station itself -- and the Parkway West station itself.

As part of that application, we would include a full description of the project, full economics, which would include the compression and the metering facilities, and also rate impacts.

Rate -- or cost recovery would be sought at the time that the 2014 rates are set in whatever process or proceeding is used to determine that.

MR. SMITH:  Now, in its evidence, TCPL proposes certain alternatives to the project.

Have you had a chance to look at those, sir?

MR. REDFORD:  I have.

MR. SMITH:  And can you tell me Union's response to those alternatives?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, I can.  There were four alternatives proposed.  The first alternative was Empress to Union CDA, either STFT, a contracted service, to replace loss of critical unit.

The second alternative was a new compressor in the vicinity of Parkway.  The third alternative was use of the domestic line, an upgrade to their domestic line, plus two compressors located, again, in the vicinity of Parkway.

The fourth alternative was an option using Great Lakes Gas Transmission, and flowing across the northern Ontario line.

I will start with the second alternative, which is a new compressor at Parkway.  The second alternative is similar, but not the same, as Union's.  It is a physical reliability solution.  It is a loss of critical unit to replace Plant B, seemingly, and appears to be at this point less developed than the Parkway West project that we're proposing.

While the details aren't fully available, that project, in order to work, would need to be located directly in the vicinity of Parkway.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So that's alternative 2.  Let's maybe go back to alternative 1.

MR. REDFORD:  Alternative 1 is the short-term firm transportation.  The short-term firm transportation, it is a biddable service on TransCanada's system.  It is not renewable.  And, in our view, there is no guarantee of availability, and that really is not a substitute for a loss of critical unit protection or loss of critical unit coverage.

TransCanada had suggested that Union could purchase STFT in the event of an outage.  Our belief is that that is not -- that's not prudent.  That capacity may not be available when you need it.  And when you need it most is going to be the coldest time of the year, and that is the time that people are looking for capacity.

If Union were to look at something like that option, we would have to take capacity over a longer period of time, which could be hundreds of millions of dollars on an annual basis.

Another component of that, of that option or that alternative, was for Union to buy gas at Empress, and then sell gas at Dawn or wherever we were receiving the gas.

While we buy and sell gas for our customers, for our in-franchise customers, it is really not in Union's business to be buying gas and selling gas on the day at two different spots like that, specifically when they're not necessarily in-franchise customers that we're covering.

So for those number of reasons, STFT really does not work for us.

MR. SMITH:  What about option 3?

MR. REDFORD:  Option 3 is the use of the domestic line.  It was two compressors and an upgrade to the domestic line.  It seemingly is a bit of a hybrid between physical and contractual solution.

I think for Union we would have to contract 1.1 pJs a day of coverage on the domestic line to make sure that we have loss of critical unit coverage, and I think there isn't a rate at this point for that.  But even in the evidence, TCPL had identified that the annual cost of that service would be more than what the annual cost of the Parkway West facilities are for the LCU.

MR. SMITH:  And does that cover option 3?

MR. REDFORD:  That covers option 3.

MR. SMITH:  Option 4?

MR. REDFORD:  Option 4, really, I would look at it in the same light as option 1, that if we were to take capacity to backstop the loss of critical unit at Parkway, we would have to take it over a longer period of time than on an event, and our view is that that cost is multiple millions of dollars, much more than the annual cost of the LCU at Parkway, a physical solution.

It also -- it isn't detailed as to how that service would be provided, so we would have concerns about capacity.  We're not sure whether Great Lakes would even have the ability to serve 1.1 pJs a day of backhaul.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions and I tender you for cross-examination.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  I understand, Mr. Cass, that you are first up?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  Yes, I do have a few questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  Because I wasn't here when the Board took appearances and also perhaps for the benefit of the witnesses, I should maybe identify myself.

I am Fred Cass and I am here on behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution, and I do have only a very few questions.  In fact, the examination-in-chief did cover some of the ground that I was going to cover with my questions.  Perhaps I could just start by ensuring that I have it correctly.

Union is not asking for any approval in this case by way of the Board granting approval for the Parkway West project.  That approval, to the extent that leave to construct is required for any particular facilities, will be in a later leave to construct application; is that correct?

MR. REDFORD:  That is correct.

MR. CASS:  What is the purpose of Union raising the issue in this case?  What is Union looking for here?

MR. REDFORD:  We included the Parkway West information and costs into the rates filing.  Under the filing guidelines the Board requests that any projects where spends are greater than half-a-million dollars be identified, and that's why Parkway West was included.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  So I did want a little more information, if you don't mind, about the forthcoming leave to construct application.  In that context, you referred specifically to something you called "headers".  Could you just describe a little more, please, what you are referring to when you talk about these headers?

MR. REDFORD:  I can.  Ideally we would love to purchase an option on property directly across the 407 from Parkway.  There is not enough room on the Parkway site, the existing Parkway site, to locate another compressor and have enough buffer around the site.  So we needed to move off the site to do so.

The property right across the 407 was not available, and we attempted a number of times to try and secure that land, but to no avail.

So we took the nearest property we could get, which was about a kilometre north, almost directly north of that property.  So we will have to build a pipeline or pipelines from the Trafalgar lines to this property in the north, and those are the "headers" that we talk about.

MR. CASS:  And you would be seeking leave to construct from the Board for those pipelines?

MR. REDFORD:  For those headers, yes.  For those pipelines, yes.

MR. CASS:  Now, in the context of seeking the Board's leave to construct those pipelines, would Union then consider that to be the Board's approval, if granted, of the proposal for loss of critical unit protection?

MR. REDFORD:  We would still have to seek cost recovery in our 2014 rate proceeding, whatever that takes form.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  But to the extent that the Board grants any sort of project approval, the context in which Union would be looking for approval of the proposed headers is the context in which the Board would consider this overall loss of critical unit protection?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.  We would expect that to be part of the -- we would expect the loss of critical unit to be part of the discussions in that leave-to-construct application.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  So would it follow, then, that I would I be right in thinking that options and alternatives can be dealt with in that leave-to-construct proceeding?

MR. REDFORD:  I would expect them to.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Would that include, for example, options and alternatives that TransCanada Pipelines Limited might want to bring forward?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  I would agree.

MR. CASS:  And so -- sorry?

MR. REDFORD:  That's fair.  I think that's where they would come up.

MR. CASS:  All right.  So would I be right in thinking that all interested parties -- so this would include TransCanada, and it would also include Enbridge, which I represent -- will be able to participate in that leave-to-construct proceeding, and there have a full examination of options an alternatives?

MR. REDFORD:  I would agree with that.

MR. CASS:  Would I also be right in thinking, then, at least in Union's view, that in light of what we just discussed, and bearing in mind also that Enbridge has not been an active participant in this proceeding, that Union's 2013 rate case is not the best proceeding for the Board to try to reach decisions about options and alternatives to the Parkway West project?

MR. REDFORD:  I would agree with that, yes.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Cameron, I believe you are next to cross-examine?

MR. CAMERON:  I will just be one second.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Sure.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Cameron:

MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Redford, let me begin on the point you were discussing just now with Mr. Cass, and that's the land issue.

I understand that you, Union, secured an option to purchase land for the new Parkway West site in 2011; is that right?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. CAMERON:  And was that option renewed?

MR. REDFORD:  It was renewed, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And some of the documents refer to your efforts to acquire the land directly across Highway 407 from the existing site by way of a land swap?

Is that still a live opportunity?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  We don't –- we -- I think the land swap has gone past us.

A developer owns about 160 acres of property in that area.  They were at one point willing to look at -- look at land swapping, but our property really didn't give them the value that they needed.

So I would -- I'd say that is not going to happen.

MR. CAMERON:  Moving to a different topic, what is the usual ballpark correlation between Union's capital costs and its annual owning and operating costs for facilities?

Let me pause.  Is the question clear to you?

MR. REDFORD:  It is.

I would say it's around 10 percent.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And if it's not exactly 10 percent, I would suggest to you it is likely to be a bit higher than that?

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah.  And I think you would probably want to talk to the cost allocation folks for more detail on that, but...

MR. CAMERON:  Union provided -- when TransCanada asked the -- an interrogatory asking for the annual owning and operating costs of this proposed Parkway West project, we asked it for the first 15 years, and Union responded with the first year only, annual owning and operating costs.

Do you recollect that?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And there's -- I think you will be familiar with this.  There is something unique about the first year annual and owning operating costs of a facility; correct?

That is, they're materially lower because they include certain tax advantages?

MR. REDFORD:  In the first full year of operating?

MR. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, our numbers did include that.

MR. CAMERON:  And in fact, the number you provided for the annual owning and operating costs of the Parkway West project come out to about seven-and-a-half percent of the capital costs?  Sound right?

MR. REDFORD:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  I wonder if you can pull up -- it's probably something you will recognize, Mr. Redford, and Mr. Wood, it is something you will recognize -- the discussion of Union's Parkway obligation.  I know that is not the issue here, but I want to find out some information about it, as it might relate to Parkway West.

In Exhibit A1, tab 15, at page 8 of 13.

MR. REDFORD:  Sorry, Mr. Cameron, could you repeat that again?

MR. CAMERON:  Sure, I can.

Exhibit A1, tab 15, page 8 of 13.

And if we could actually highlight the definition of "obligated direct purchase deliveries," I will just read that so it is in the transcript.  It is a definition:

"Obligated direct purchase deliveries - direct purchase customers have an obligation to deliver on a daily basis a certain amount to Union (i.e., their obligated DCQ).  Union counts on these deliveries arriving at a specified location in determining the facilities required to meet the design day demand."

And is that what we sometimes refer to as the "Parkway obligation"?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And when it says "Union counts on these deliveries to meet the design day demand" I take it that you have to be sure that your shippers with the Parkway obligation deliver their gas to you, or you would face a potential shortfall on a peak day?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. CAMERON:  If I could ask you to turn up another reference, it is a response to an IGUA interrogatory,
J.D-18-9-1 a).

And it is your response to (a) that I was looking at, the same point, I think, as was made in the definition.  Would you have a read of it there, Mr. Wood, and see if I am correct in making that assumption?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. CAMERON:  And in that interrogatory response, what do you mean by the parenthetical expression "firm deliveries" in the sentence:
"Union relies on obligated Parkway deliveries (firm deliveries) in designing the Dawn-Parkway transmission system."


MR. WOOD:  It means we rely on those firm deliveries on design day.

MR. CAMERON:  But what do you mean by the expression "firm deliveries"?

MR. WOOD:  That those deliveries would not be interrupted, that they would arrive to us.  We assume that all those volumes would arrive to us.

MR. CAMERON:  So, in a sense, as you see it, your shippers have a firm obligation to deliver that gas and not interrupt you?

MR. WOOD:  Their obligation is related to the volumes that they require.  So if they require those volumes, then we anticipate that they would deliver those obligations to Parkway.

MR. CAMERON:  Yes, I understand that, but the notion perhaps, as opposed to -- well, let me ask you it this way.

How was it described in your contract with these shippers, the firmness of their obligation?  Mr. Wood is looking to you, Mr. Redford.

MR. WOOD:  I'm not sure of the wording in the contracts.

MR. CAMERON:  One more reference, I think, on this point.  It's Exhibit J.B-1-7-8, attachment 9.  And to assist in locating this, the exhibit numbers aren't as helpful here as they might be, because this was an interrogatory response that arrived as a result of TransCanada's motion to compel.  So it has that exhibit number, but it is located in a different place.  It's at Adobe page 62, if you are looking for it.

And, gentlemen, you might be familiar with this.  It's part of a presentation that Union made to Enbridge.  Does that sound right to you, Mr. Redford?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, it is.

MR. CAMERON:  And the second-last bullet on that page says:
"Two-thirds of Parkway obligations are backed by firm pipeline capacity."

Do you see that?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, I do.

MR. CAMERON:  What happens if the one-third without firm contracts fails to deliver on a peak day?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, if a customer failed to deliver on the peak day --


MR. CAMERON:  Not just a customer.  I'm talking about the one-third who don't meet their Parkway obligation with firm pipeline capacity.

MR. REDFORD:  Actually, I'm not as familiar with that.  I would have expected that would be a question for Mr. Shorts.  I would have to find out what the mechanisms are around a customer failing to deliver.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, I don't know.  Maybe Mr. Wood can help us.  I think based on an answer you gave to me earlier, Union would face -- I don't know if it would be an insurmountable problem, but it would have a problem if, on a peak day, a third of your Parkway obligations didn't show up; right?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.  We would be short Parkway compressed volumes.

MR. CAMERON:  Now, I take it that the point of providing this data to Enbridge - that is, the two-thirds of the Parkway obligations are backed by firm pipeline capacity - was part of this overall presentation extolling the reliability of the Union system.  Is that how you read it, Mr. Redford?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  We were trying to provide Enbridge a snapshot of how our system worked and what the various reliability features were around the system.

MR. CAMERON:  And I guess one way of putting it is the simple question:  Why doesn't TransCanada require that three-thirds of its Parkway obligations be backed by firm pipeline capacity?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry?

MR. CAMERON:  Sorry.  Union's obligations are backed by firm pipeline capacity.

MR. REDFORD:  Again, it is probably a better question for Mr. Shorts, but typically I'm not sure whether we would understand how Parkway obligations are met, and I think we have been able to estimate that two-thirds of those are met through firm deliveries, through firm transportation.

MR. CAMERON:  And how did you estimate that?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, people will -- people can meet their Parkway obligations through marketers.  They don't necessarily have to hold the transportation themselves.  So we did -- we estimated what that might -- what that might look like.

We think it was about two-thirds that held firm capacity.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay, thank you.  New topic, probably one for you, Mr. Wood.

Could you go to -- it is probably in the same document, I think.  It is attachment 9 to J.B-1-7-8 and, within that, attachment slide 7.

And again here, as I understand this presentation, you are trying to persuade Enbridge of the reliability of your system, and we see roughly in the middle of that slide the bullet:

"Probability of pipeline failure on the Dawn-to-Parkway system is 9 times 10 to the minus 4 failures a year."

And somebody who knows more math than I do tells me that that is a 0.0009 percent probability of failure; does that sound right, Mr. Wood?

MR. WOOD:  That sounds correct, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And then the next bullet says:

"Probability of pipeline failure on the Dawn-to-Parkway system is once in 1,130 years."

And that would be, in effect, on an annual basis?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. CAMERON:  And then the next bullet talks about probability of failure on a 35 degree day, and that is one in 82,644 years.

And that bullet is significant -- well, one, we'll all have retired by then, but the point being made is that on the day when you are likely to -- you are most likely to need all of your capacity, the probability of failure is extremely remote; correct?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. CAMERON:  And if we could go to your evidence, Mr. Redford, which is in Exhibit B1 at tab 9, at page 4 of 6, and the sentence in particular that I wanted to chase down, it is in the middle of the first paragraph under "gas supply to the Greater Toronto Area."

And it reads:

"An outage of the Dawn-to-Parkway system interconnection at Parkway (including the valve site) would result in no gas being delivered to Parkway Consumers and Lisgar."

And we can follow through the paper trail that that statement prompted, but Board Staff asked you an interrogatory about what failure you were envisioning here.  It's J.B-1-1-2.  We don't need to look it up, because when you do, you get punted to another information -- another interrogatory request, to a Union IR, which is JB -- I would like to pull up J.B-1-7-13.

And question c) of that interrogatory asked:

"What facilities and what events would be involved in an outage of the existing Parkway interconnect that would result in no gas being delivered to Parkway Consumers and Lisgar?"

Which I think is the same question Board Staff asked, and that's why you punted them to this answer.

And then we go to the answer to c).  We get the quotation I gave you earlier, and then the statement:

"This could be the result of failures on the pipeline system west of Parkway".

So that would be the one-in-1,000-odd-year event; correct?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. CAMERON:  Or a failure at the Parkway valve site?

Now, actually, we figured that much out when we asked the question.  So the -- what I would like to know is -- what Board Staff asked and what we asked:  What is the failure you are envisioning?  Is this all three lines coming into the site becoming disabled at the valve site?

MR. WOOD:  That could be the case.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, what else?  In other words, what would cause that?

MR. WOOD:  A pipeline rupture could cause that.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And that's the one-in-1,000-odd-years event?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Now, I have a copy -- and I'm sorry to have the hearing officer jumping around in the document, but there's an attachment 1 to J.B-1-1-2, which is a useful diagram for exploring this issue.

And for those looking at it, the gray dot, if I am correct, is the existing Parkway valve site; is that right?

MR. WOOD:  That's right.

MR. CAMERON:  And the green dot a little bit upstream is the new proposed Parkway West valve site; correct?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. CAMERON:  And your concern is that if you had a failure of the existing Parkway valve site, you would then be able to route gas onto the Enbridge system with the new Parkway valve site; is that right?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. CAMERON:  And did you review the evidence of TransCanada with respect to the alternatives and commentary and whatnot, and also Union's interrogatories to TransCanada and our responses?

MR. WOOD:  I did.

MR. CAMERON:  And do you agree with Mr. Jensen that the probability of the green dot valve site experiencing a failure is exactly the same as the probability of the gray dot valve site experiencing a failure?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  So what you've done, if I understand this correctly, if you have that failure at the green dot valve site, you're -- if I can use the vernacular -- in just as big a pickle as if you have the failure at the gray dot site, because it is upstream of the gray dot; correct?

MR. WOOD:  That is correct, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  So as highly improbable as the failure of either of these is, by having two you have now doubled that probability; correct?

MR. WOOD:  I think -- the question was around what could cause a failure or the loss of supply to both Lisgar and Parkway Consumers, but there's risk around the loss of either of those locations, as well.

So this is one particular circumstance.  There could be others that could cause loss of delivery to Enbridge, if something happened to either one of those locations.

MR. CAMERON:  Right.  And the probability, you agreed with me, of it happening to either one is equal?

MR. WOOD:  For a full failure at the valve site?

MR. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. WOOD:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Just if you could go to -- back to
J.B-1-7-8, this is in the compelled responses.

All right.  And go to Adobe -- oh, we're right here already.  You read my mind.

We see the last bullet on that page reads, "Compressor reliability exceeds 99.9 percent over a ten-year period."  Both of you gentlemen, does that accord with your understanding of Union's experience with its compressors over the ten-year period, let's say the last ten years?

MR. WOOD:  The way that Union calculates reliability, compressor reliability, is more aligned with system reliability.

So if a compressor outage does not impact system demands, then it -- or it cannot -- sorry, a compressor cannot be brought on to meet those demands, then it is considered an outage.  Otherwise, it is considered -- it is only considered an unplanned outage for the period of time it takes for the next compressor to come online.

So although it says 99.9 percent, and I would have to check, but I believe the reliability of individual compressors across the system may not be that high.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  But you weren't trying to mislead Enbridge with this presentation, were you?

MR. WOOD:  No.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  If you can go to Adobe page 110 in this document, it is part of attachment 11, which might be a different attachment, but -- no, it's the same one, but further down.

Here we have, to the third decimal point, the reliability of your compressors from 2001 to 2009, it would appear, the lowest being 99.8 percent.  And the chart observes that for that lowest example, the maximum outage duration was 60 minutes over the year.  Do you see that?

MR. WOOD:  I do.

MR. CAMERON:  Does that accord with your understanding of the data related to Union's compressor reliability?

MR. WOOD:  For percentage of time, running versus requested, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  I think in this same slide -- yes -- you would agree with the assessment that you presented to Enbridge that your year over year reliability is extremely high?

MR. WOOD:  I would agree that our overall system reliability is very high, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  The heading on this page is "Compressor Reliability".  Would you not agree with me that the statement is being made with respect to compressor reliability?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.  As percentage of time running versus requested, that's how they measure the reliability of those compressors.

MR. CAMERON:  And I take it, given that you were making this presentation to Enbridge, that's an appropriate measurement for compressor reliability?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. CAMERON:  If you could look -- I think it is in the same Adobe document, at page 14.  A quick question, just because of my ignorance.

At the bottom of the page in the right-hand corner, there is a statement, "FRC or TRC meeting".  Probably a question for you, Mr. Redford.  What do those acronyms stand for?

MR. REDFORD:  The FRC is functional review committee.  TRC is -- I think it is technical review committee.

MR. CAMERON:  And can you tell me what those are?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  The functional review committee is made up of a number of department heads within Spectra that review all of our expansion projects, the first level that you need approval from to move a project forward.

The TRC is Greg Ebel's direct reports.  They're those that report to the CEO of Spectra Energy.  And they also need to approve projects over a certain value before they move forward.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Just before I go on, if I were to ask you I think a simple question - but it might be as simple as it sounds - is the -- sorry, are the Parkway obligation and the Parkway call separate things?

MR. WOOD:  Parkway call volumes are only required to be delivered at Parkway on a certain number of days.  Parkway obligations are required year around.

MR. CAMERON:  365 days a year?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. CAMERON:  I have seen a reference to 22 days for the Parkway call.  Does that sound right?

MR. WOOD:  That does.

MR. CAMERON:  And what is the volume, the daily volume, associated with the Parkway call?

MR. WOOD:  I don't have that number with me, but I believe it is in the ballpark of 40,000 gJs per day.

MR. CAMERON:  Sorry, could you repeat that number for me?  I was distracted.

MR. WOOD:  I think it is in the ballpark of 40,000 gJs per day.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Could we go to Adobe page 28 in this presentation at slide 15?

Mr. Redford, you are familiar with this type of analysis, this type of risk analysis, are you?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, I am.

MR. CAMERON:  And these are the risks that could prevent the project from proceeding, or delay it or increase its costs?

MR. REDFORD:  Those are --


MR. CAMERON:  There may be others, but those are the ones that --


MR. REDFORD:  Those are some of them, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Yes.  And the regulatory risk is, I suppose, what you will face in your leave to construct or your attempt to recover the costs in tolls, and the mitigation -- which is OEB approval.

Then the mitigation for that is:  Meet with the OEB to describe the linkage to Enbridge GTA upgrade project and the Parkway to Maple extension project.

Just so we can avoid jumping around this document much more, the Parkway to Maple extension project, is that partly joint Union-Enbridge, partly Union project from Parkway to Maple for which there was recently an open season?  Is that the right one?

MR. REDFORD:  That's what the Parkway extension project is.  It was our proposal to extend capacity or increase capacity from Parkway to Maple.

MR. CAMERON:  And that is what is being referred to in this bullet here?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And did you meet with the Board to describe the linkage between the Parkway West loss of critical unit project and the Parkway to Maple extension project?

MR. REDFORD:  There was a meeting with the Board at the end of -- I will say the end of March, but I don't believe Parkway West project was included as part of that presentation.

MR. CAMERON:  Yes, that was our recollection, as well.

At the bottom of that same slide, there is a competitive risk identified, and the competitive risk is defined as this, "TCPL's competitive response".  See that?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Now, I can see why Union would characterize TCPL's competitive response as a risk to a Union-Enbridge bypass pipeline, but how can TCPL's competitive response be a risk to a loss of critical unit reliability facility?

MR. REDFORD:  I think that that reference was in regard to the Parkway extension project.  I think it was -- it was in regard to those projects versus the Parkway West project specifically.

MR. CAMERON:  You know, I think you're right on that, but that's why I asked the question:  Why do you see TransCanada expanding Parkway to Maple as a competitive risk to a loss of critical unit facility?

MR. REDFORD:  In fact, we don't.  We wouldn't see TransCanada expanding between Parkway and Maple as a competitive risk for loss of critical unit.  In fact, it would be support for it.

MR. CAMERON:  Right.  What that would -- TransCanada's expansion between Parkway and Maple would be a competitive response to Union and Enbridge's proposal to expand between Parkway and Maple; right?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.  I think that is the context of this risk.

MR. CAMERON:  And so my question, again:  This is a presentation describing risks associated with loss of critical unit protection.  So why is TransCanada's expansion a competitive risk?

MR. REDFORD:  I would like to turn the presentation up, actually.  What was the reference?  What was the...

MR. CAMERON:  It is slide 15.  It's --


MR. REDFORD:  And which attachment, Mr. Cameron?

MR. CAMERON:  I believe it is attachment 11.

MR. REDFORD:  It's 11?  Okay.  That sounds right.

MR. CAMERON:  Sorry, 7.

MR. REDFORD:  Oops.  Going the wrong way.

Yes, when you look at the presentation, the Parkway extension project is described in the appendix, and we would have discussed the Parkway extension project at the same time as the Parkway West project.

And really, that's where we would have identified the risk.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Well, I guess we can debate it.

You will agree with me that this is a presentation about the Parkway West project that is the subject of your capital budget in this proceeding; right?  It is not about the Parkway extension project, this presentation?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. CAMERON:  We'll have to take that up in argument, I think.

Same reference, attachment 7, at Adobe page 14, that is the first page:  "Pre-spend approval."

And If you go to Adobe 14 -- sorry, Adobe 24, the last bullet there -- we'll see that this is a financial analysis -- the last bullet there says:
 "Includes 200 basis point increase in ROE above regulated return to recognize revenue synergies realizable from additional transactional services available at Dawn Hub."

Do you see that?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And this is -- that reference to 200 basis points is a reference to Spectra's share of your discretionary revenues from the extra capacity created by the loss of critical unit facility?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  I believe it's a reference to earnings sharing.

MR. CAMERON:  That's --


MR. REDFORD:  Through incentive regulation.

MR. CAMERON:  I think that's what I meant.

As a result of earnings sharing through incentive regulation, you expect that the discretionary services that this loss of critical unit compressor will generate will result in a 200 basis point increase?

MR. REDFORD:  It would not be limited to discretionary services provided by the LCU.

And in fact, I think we have answered in our IRs that it is horsepower held in reserve and that we would not be using that horsepower for discretionary services.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  How does that compressor generate the 200 basis point increase?

MR. REDFORD:  I think the reference is that it would be -- that the earnings sharing is based on the total, the total of the rate base.  So to the extent that the rate base increased, it would -- Union would have an opportunity to earn and share on –- on wherever that revenue comes from.

It doesn't necessarily have to come from discretionary services.  It could come from anywhere within Union's --


MR. CAMERON:  And yet the bullet, Mr. Redford, says that these 200 basis points increase in ROE come from additional transactional services available at Dawn Hub.

It is not talking about the size of the rate base, is it?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, you would -- well, it is.  If the rate base stayed the same as it is today, then you wouldn't have the ability to -- to earn.  Well, you would have the ability to earn, but only to a certain level or a certain amount.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, I'm still missing your point here.  I thought the bullet was pretty clear.

It talked about this loss of critical unit compressor allowing additional transactional services at the Dawn Hub.

Isn't that what it says?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  I don't think -- I don't think it is specific to this loss of critical unit compressor.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, let's start at the top, then.

Capital, 224 million, that is the capital for your Dawn -- sorry, your Parkway West project; right?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  So it is what we're talking about.  We're talking about your loss of critical unit compression.  I don't think it is relevant, but it would also theoretically include your new tie-in, proposed tie-in to Enbridge, but it is from the spending of those dollars that you are able to do additional transactional services available at Dawn Hub; right?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  Those two aren't necessarily connected.

The additional transactional services that might be done at the Dawn Hub may not be -- may not be and wouldn't be tagged to the loss of critical unit, not to those facilities.

MR. CAMERON:  How do they get in the financial analysis, then?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, again, my understanding is that -- is that the earnings sharing mechanism is based on the rate base, of which this would contribute to.

MR. CAMERON:  So the rate base goes up and Union gets a 200 basis point increase in its ROE?

MR. REDFORD:  Just on the project, yes.  We would have that ability -- we have that -- under the -- and this assumes incentive regulation is back in place, but under the incentive regulation we have the ability to -- to earn above the set rate of return.

MR. CAMERON:  By adding rate base?

MR. REDFORD:  And this would -- well, this would also... I guess this would also assume that there was some flow-through mechanism too for the Parkway West costs.

It's something I can take, subject to check.  It is not my area of expertise.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, let's look at the next page, because I might ask you to get a response on that.

The next page has -- the title of the slide is:  "SE financial implication," and "SE" is Spectra Energy; right?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. CAMERON:  And the box you see at the upper right-hand part of that page has a series of numbers that conclude with a "base case IRR" and that means base case internal rate of return?  Is that how you read it?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And one of the contributions to that, to the IRR that Spectra is going to achieve as a result of spending this 224 million, the last line is, "Dawn S&T transactional synergies", and that adds, indeed, on an internal rate-of-return basis, 800 basis points.

And, again, the reference is not to rate base, but to Dawn storage and transportation transactional synergies.  Are you able to help me out with the connection, if you are telling us that you are not going to use this loss of critical unit compressor to generate revenues, how we can explain these entries in this presentation?

MR. REDFORD:  My understanding is that under the incentive regulation, and assuming that the costs flow through, that the ability to or the sharing on earnings -- you know, it's something I would have -- it is something I would have to undertake.  It is not something that I am familiar with in terms of the -- in terms of the incentive regulation and specifically how it works.

What I do know is that with the addition of these facilities, that there is an opportunity to increase the revenue under the sharing mechanism, and that provides a 0.8 percent increase in the IR.

MS. HARE:  I think, Mr. Cameron, this might be a convenient place to break, and Mr. Redford has given the undertaking, but the other kind of question I have is you are pursuing what the earnings would be under incentive regulation.  Well, the existing formula is complete as of this year.

So you are actually asking him also to speculate as to what is going to happen going forward.

MR. CAMERON:  I'm not asking -- with respect, I am not asking him to speculate about anything.  They've done -- Union's done a presentation to Spectra saying, Here's why we should do this project.

MS. HARE:  Right.

MR. CAMERON:  One of the reasons Union says we should do this project is that Spectra is going to earn an extra 200 basis points.

MS. HARE:  Right, based on some assumptions which may or may not be correct.  But I think what I heard Mr. Redford say is this isn't his area.

MR. CAMERON:  Understood.  And just before we break -- well, no, let's have our break.  I just want to define the undertaking, because I am not sure, and I don't know if Mr. Redford is sure, what he is undertaking to find out.

MS. HARE:  Do you want to do that now?

MR. CAMERON:  Sure.

MS. HARE:  Let's do that now.

MR. CAMERON:  What I would like to know is how it is that Union connects the Parkway West project that's part of their capital budget in this proceeding with 200 basis points as referred to on the first slide we looked at on page 11, and 800 basis points on an internal rate-of-return basis on slide 12.

MS. HARE:  And have we given that an undertaking number?

MR. MILLAR:  We have not.  It will be J8.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.9:  TO PROVIDE RESPONSE AS TO HOW UNION CONNECTS THE PARKWAY WEST PROJECT, PART OF THEIR CAPITAL BUDGET IN THIS PROCEEDING, WITH 200 BASIS POINTS REFERRED TO THE FIRST SLIDE ON PAGE 11 AND 800 BASIS POINTS ON AN INTERNAL RATE-OF-RETURN BASIS ON SLIDE 12.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  And thank you for letting me finish.

MS. HARE:  We will come back at 3:30.


--- Recess taken at 3:10 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:37 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Mr. Cameron, could you resume your cross-examination, please?  But I would just like to remind you that we do have a hard stop at 4:30.  If you are not completed your cross, we can start again tomorrow.

MR. CAMERON:  The good news is we won't -- I certainly won't cause us to come up to the hard stop, for two reasons.


One, I'm going to withdraw the request for undertaking that I made; we think that the document is clear on its face and we don't require any elaboration on it.


And secondly, I have completed my cross-examination.

MS. HARE:  You are completed?


MR. CAMERON:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Such a disappointment.


[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  Well, with respect, I don't think having obtained an answer from the witness that he is not knowledgeable about it, and an undertaking having been sought and an undertaking having been given, I don't think it is open to Mr. Cameron at this stage to withdraw the undertaking.

MS. HARE:  Actually, I was going to ask to review what the undertaking was, because it may be information that the Board is still interested in.


MR. CAMERON:  If Mr. Smith wants to answer the undertaking, and/or the Board thinks it might be useful information, then I am content to leave it.  I was just saying we don't think it is necessary.  We think the document is --


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  The Board would like to have an answer to that undertaking.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


In terms of the order, then, is it Mr. Quinn next?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Good afternoon, panel.  I guess I saw you at the technical conference, but I am Dwayne Quinn, on behalf of Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.


If I may, I am going to just cover a couple of things.


The Exhibit K8.3 that you provided, you went through a number of corrections quickly and those numbers are pertinent to some the questions we had asked.  So I just want to ensure that I have clarity before we move on to some other responses, Mr. Wood.


MR. WOOD:  Sure.


MR. QUINN:  In providing clarification that the -- this is on the first page of the K8.3, IR J.B-1-7-1, it talks about Union failed to include in-franchise demands through Parkway in the original submission.

So my first question, I guess, is:  So the first row, Dawn-to-Parkway TCPL, is that where the change occurred?  From -–


MR. WOOD:  Yes.  That's the only change.  The second and third did not change at all.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And then it was referenced that the second IR, J.B-1-7-14, part f), you referred to a flow-through of the total capacity.


Could you clarify that for us, please?


MR. WOOD:  Sure, yes.  That table was created with the number under 2013 in Dawn-to-Parkway TCPL.  So that number was originally around 2.5 pJs per day.  So the number used, that was the number used to start the table in J.B-1-7-14.


So that number is now higher because of those in-franchise volumes.

MR. QUINN:  So implicitly the in-franchise volumes are approximately 0.5 pJs that were added?


MR. WOOD:  Approximately 0.4.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.


So then flipping over the page, there was a table that I understood was originally provided to TCPL in, it looks like, J.B-1-7-12.


Do you have that page?

MR. WOOD:  Sorry, is this the second page of the document that was handed out today?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MR. WOOD:  Yes.  This was a table provided to us from TCPL yesterday, that we updated.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  The two figures I want to draw your attention and get clarity for are capacity to Parkway TCPL - it is under the 2011/2012 contracts - the number is 2.58.


Do you see that number?

MR. WOOD:  Yes, I do.


MR. QUINN:  Then later on down under 2013/'14, capacity to Parkway TCPL refers to three.  What's the basis of the increase between 2011/'12 and 2013/'14?

MR. WOOD:  There are new M12 and M12X contracts that start between that time.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, I believe -- and I was trying to look it up at the break -- I believe that Union has undertaken to review if the 2013 updated forecast included any changes to M12 and M12X; am I correct with that, Mr. Smith?


I think it was an undertaking of Mr. Isherwood?

MR. SMITH:  There is an undertaking that Mr. Isherwood gave -- well, that was given during Mr. Isherwood's cross-examination, but I cannot remember it.


MR. QUINN:  My recall -- and I couldn't get it up at the break -- initially said, subject to check, I asked if the incremental contracting was reflected in their 2013 updated forecast.  And he initially he said subject to check, and I think then he said he would undertake to review it.  So I guess my -- I just want to make sure we're dealing with apples and apples in terms of the information Mr. Wood is providing and what we're dealing with here at the Board.


So can we ask -- I will ask it this way.  Would Union undertake just to make sure that is in fact going to be provided, if these incremental M12 and M12X contracts for 2013/'14 are in the 2013 forecast?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J8.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.10:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER INCREMENTAL M12 AND M12X CONTRACTS FOR 2013/2014 ARE IN THE 2013 FORECAST.

MR. QUINN:  Now, with the help of our friend, Mr. Organ, we are hopefully -- there is a couple of questions or a few questions we have on the slides that came as a result of the TCPL motion.


And I wanted to refer first to -- I will just make sure I get a reference here, sorry.  I apologize.


It was page 7 of the confidential attachment.  I think it is attachment -- I'm sorry, I don't have a complete reference for that, so I'm going to move on to something else and come back to that, if I may.


If you move to attachment 13, page 9, please, it is on page 159 of 212.

Now, I don't think you need to turn it up, but my understanding from a number of places in the presentation which I didn't have a complete reference for, Mr. Redford, my understanding was that the 220 million that was estimated as the Parkway West cost, the proposition would be that that would be rolled into M12 rates.

MR. REDFORD:  It would be rolled into rate base, a portion of which -- a large portion of which M12 shippers would take the cost.

MR. QUINN:  So in clarifying that -- well, we can turn it up.  I have the reference here if you need to, but what I read was it was rolled into M12 rates, and then that it was -- it also clarified it was on the basis of the distance weighted demand for the Dawn-Parkway system.


Is that your understanding of the proposition for putting it into rates?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, that's a question better left for Mr. Tetreault and the allocation panel.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I will come back to them as early as tomorrow.


But I had started with the potential TCPL rate impact using current TCPL tolling methodology.  This is on page 9 of attachment 13.


MR. REDFORD:  I have that.


MR. QUINN:  So that I am not misinterpreting this, as I thought it was an interesting depiction, could you walk us through this slide and what this slide means?

MR. REDFORD:  I can.  This was an estimate we had made.  The solid red line, the solid blue line on the graph were the 2011 final and '12 proposed TCPL tolls.  We had estimated what the tolls might be if there was -- if there was further de-contracting on the TCPL system.

It was our guess at what that impact might be.

MR. QUINN:  How did you quantify the further de-contracting?  There's obviously a quantum of change in those respective lines.  And, first off, I guess I am dealing with the one on the right that refers to de-contracting.  That is what you're referring to, also?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.  And it was really around those that might still convert from long-haul purchasing at Empress and long-haul versus purchasing at Dawn and short hauling.

MR. QUINN:  Now, the number that was used for this de-contracting scenario, how did you come up with that number?

MR. REDFORD:  I think it came off the contract demand energy reports from TransCanada.  I think we pulled the information off of TransCanada's website.

MR. QUINN:  Oh, so this is actual de-contracting that has been -- the de-contracting that has been committed to; in other words, the contracts have expired?

MR. REDFORD:  2011 would have been.  2012 would have been others that would de-contract or could de-contract in that time period.

MR. QUINN:  So 2011 is actual.  2012 is projected?  Would that be a fair statement?

MR. REDFORD:  I believe so.

MR. QUINN:  The timing on this presentation, we just - we flipped to it initially at the start.  This was March of 2012.  So you would not know at that juncture what had actually been turned back.  So 2011 actual and 2012 projected?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  So that's the graph on the right.

Could you explain, again, then, what was calculated here?

MR. REDFORD:  We were looking at distance-based -- distance-based costs for transporting on the TCPL system.  It really was revolving around the fact that if the Parkway extension project happened, it would have been a new receipt delivery point at Maple, and we were looking at potential tolls, what our estimate would be of tolls out of Maple.

MR. QUINN:  So what does the distance kilometre -- you're saying the distance kilometre references the receipt point of Maple?

MR. REDFORD:  It would be transportation that started at Maple, and then went from Maple to wherever, Union, EDA or what have you.  So it was a means of looking at a location to where you would transport to and what the toll impact might be on further conversion of short haul – long haul, pardon me, to short haul.

MR. QUINN:  And I want to turn to the graph on the left, then.  The graph on the left, then, is the expected short haul impact; is that accurate?

MR. REDFORD:  That would be for -- yes, that would be for distances within 100 kilometres.

MR. QUINN:  And this is still on the TransCanada system?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the summary of this graph, then, is Union was attempting to present to -- and this is an open season presentation.  It was to shippers?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  To customers, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I want to be specific here.  To shippers as opposed to in-franchise customers?

MR. REDFORD:  Oh, to shippers, yes, correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And potentially those shippers would be Enbridge and Gaz Mét?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Okay.  I'm struggling to find this reference and so maybe -- with your familiarity with this, Mr. Redford, maybe you can tell me which presentation this is in, if that can be done.

If not, I will just ask the question.  In the conclusions, you had talked about TCPL has asked for NEB approvals for the project on or before May 1st, 2012.

And I will just read it into the record.  It might be easier, but if you would like to turn it up, maybe you could tell us what the reference is.  The slide says:
"The costs for existing TCPL shippers to withdraw from TCPL project are limited to commitments incurred by TCPL to date - if before May 1st, most of which are the NPV of TCPL's Union M12 contracts - which Union may be willing to negotiate away if the current TCPL shippers were to shift support to our project with M12 capacity (and take TCPL's M12 capacity)."


Are you familiar with that proposal?

MR. REDFORD:  I remember -- I remember reading it.  I would have to find the specific reference.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess maybe you can tell us as opposed to looking up the reference, if you are familiar with it, what it is in fact Union was proposing?

MR. REDFORD:  Really, it was proposing that if TCPL did not get approvals and wasn't -- or wasn't prepared to go forward with the 2012 expansion, that those were volumes that potentially could be shipped on a Parkway extension project.

MR. QUINN:  But the further point in there is that there may be some costs that reflect TCPL's commitments to the project to date, and it refers to "Union would be willing to negotiate these away if TCPL shippers were to shift support to our project."

What, in fact, does that refer to?

MR. REDFORD:  You know what?  I would really like the reference to be able to read that in the specifics.

MS. HARE:  Can you pull that up, please?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board is also very interested.

MR. QUINN:  I apologize, because these come out without page numbers on them, and I didn't put the reference down on the page, but I may have --


MR. SMITH:  This may or may not be of assistance, but we were talking about the Parkway extension project, which is distinct from Parkway West.  The Parkway extension project is not before the Board and, in fact, not part of this application in any -- in any respect.

There is just simply no pre-filed evidence in relation to it.

MR. QUINN:  Well, in context, we're talking about how the Parkway -- what Parkway West would serve, and I have the reference as attachment 9 that is in that same package, and it is page 13.  Sorry, it took me a moment to pull that up.

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry.  Same package of what?

MR. QUINN:  The information that Union provided through TransCanada's motion.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  It is page 71 of 212.

MS. HARE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So it's the fourth bullet down.

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  I think our feeling was that our commitments to that point were quite small on TCPL's project and that if -- if it did come to the point where TCPL wasn't building the extension or that people were uncomfortable with the timing around that, that we would -- that we would look at what we would do to entice people to come to the Parkway extension project.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And who would bear those costs in that scenario?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, it didn't happen.  Indeed, TCPL is building the extension.  So I'm not sure who would bear the costs, but, in any event, that scenario never played out.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I guess our concern is that right now there still is an open season out there for TransCanada, and Union has a competing open season.

Is this Union's current position on the existing open seasons that are out there?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, the existing open season is for capacity -- let's go back a step.

This really refers to the 2012 eastern Canadian main line expansion that TCPL proposed.  And that project was approved by the National Energy Board, and, as I understand, is moving forward.

The open season or -- the second open season that you had talked about, Mr. Quinn, was for further expansion of the Parkway-to-Maple corridor.  And this really reflected the 2012 Canadian main line expansion.

MR. QUINN:  So this is not applicable to the second open season that you referred to with TransCanada?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  No, it's not.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, we will await those results.

Mr. Wood, I have a general question for you that I can't seem to get clarity on, but it refers to -- in your system planning responsibility, you are familiar with the 24 T-service that is available to generators?

MR. WOOD:  I'm familiar with it, yes.

MR. QUINN:  But from a system planning point of view, you have to make sure that there's hourly demands available from the Dawn-Parkway system to meet those needs?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  In delivering these peak needs, would it be true that the Dawn-Parkway line pack is used to meet the higher hourly demands for dispatching during the winter?

MR. WOOD:  It is probably fair to say that.  We model on a transient basis over a 24-hour period on our peak day, and during that period of time pressures do come down somewhat on the system.

So in that respect, some of that pack would be used for -- to help keep the system whole and meet our design day demands.

MR. QUINN:  I was going to ask you about that and you moved to it.

Union normally looks for a 24-hour day, and your ability to meet a peak day based on a 24-hour basis?

MR. WOOD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  You have a transient model that allows you to do intra-day reviews of pipeline scenarios, the effect that demand will have on your pipeline pressures?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.  To take into account heat load for the most part.

MR. QUINN:  Heat load for the most part, but in the case of being able to provide this 24 T-service, you would have to run a transient-type scenario if you're only looking for eight hours of maximum dispatch?

MR. WOOD:  We would, but I believe, subject to check, that we consider those volumes required on a peak day.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So when you analyze them on a peak day, there is a -- let's say an eight-hour window that would be modelled on a transient basis to determine your ability, the ability of the system to meet those demands through combination of compression and, in this case, line pack?

MR. WOOD:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  In looking at a scenario that was brought up previously, there is obviously a generator at Halton Hills and it is a matter of public record and it is very, obviously, proximate to Parkway.  So it's right near the end of your system as you had planned.

Would you or have you quantified what the difference in pressure would be for that generator to be on with their full contract demand for eight hours, versus off for that period?

MR. WOOD:  No.  We consider for the peak day that that generator is on, and pulling their demands.

MR. QUINN:  For the entire 24-hour period?

MR. WOOD:  Yes.  Sorry, I think earlier you mentioned eight hours, but it is actually for the full 24-hour period.

MR. QUINN:  But in your transient analysis for the day, you see a line pack or line pressure reduction at the end of the system, which is eventually made up as the day moves on?

MR. WOOD:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Questions by the Board:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Could the Board get a coloured copy of the exhibit that Mr. Quinn referred to that related to impacts of de-contracting?  The dotted blue, dotted red lines?

MR. QUINN:  The reference was attachment 13, page 9.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  A colour copy, please.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. MacIntosh, do you have any questions of this panel?

MR. MacINTOSH:  I do.  I have just a couple, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. MacIntosh

MR. MacINTOSH:  Good afternoon.  My name is David MacIntosh, on behalf of Energy Probe.

I wonder if you could, please, turn up J.B-1-3-5, which was an interrogatory response to Energy Probe.

In the response a), it indicates that the schedule shows zero costs for 2012.  Could you tell me if any costs have been incurred to date in 2012 on Parkway West?

MR. REDFORD:  I can.  I...

MR. MacINTOSH:  Approximate would be fine.

MR. REDFORD:  I don't have a cost to date.

I can tell you that there was $200,000 approximately spent in 2011, and that was for the option on the property.

And then we're forecasting about $6 million, at this point, in 2012.

MR. MacINTOSH:  The schedule shows 2013 costs of $20 million for land purchase.

What other costs will be incurred in 2013, such as engineering design and pre-ordering of components?

MR. REDFORD:  In 2013 we would exercise the option on the land, so the remainder of the land would be purchased.

In '13 we would also incur costs for the compressor; the compressor would need to be ordered in late 2012.  And we would also have engineering costs included in that, and possibly some early order materials.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Could you give me an estimate of what that might be, in total?

MR. REDFORD:  About $61 million.

MR. MacINTOSH:  About 61?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  I wonder if you could turn to J.B-4-3-2.

The answer to Energy Probe's interrogatory indicates the leave-to-construct application will be filed in the third or fourth quarter of 2012.

Is that filing contingent on the Board's decision on Parkway West in this proceeding?

MR. REDFORD:  No.  I think -- we're not asking for any approvals, so I don't know what decision there would be in that regard.  Our plan is to file September or October.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.

Without having to look up any of the interrogatory responses, I note that TransCanada Pipelines, having proposed some alternatives to Parkway West, proposed -- in answer to a Board Staff interrogatory -- proposed a consultation between stakeholder groups to review the options to Parkway West.

What is Union's position on such an approach?

MR. REDFORD:  We have consulted with Enbridge.  In fact, have consulted with Enbridge at length with respect to Parkway West project.

We had looked at a physical solution, and had not talked to TransCanada.

MR. MacINTOSH:  I think the proposal was perhaps for a wider group than just Enbridge, as a proposal by TCPL.  And I am asking what Union's position is on that type of a consultation.

MR. REDFORD:  We could, I think, at this point -- at this point, we have alternatives that TCPL has proposed and have evaluated those.

I don't know at this point if there is a need to consult, but certainly if we felt in our evaluation that there was information that we needed from TransCanada, then we would certainly involve them or ask them to be involved.

MR. MacINTOSH:  And other stakeholders, as well?

MR. REDFORD:  Other stakeholders would have an opportunity to input in the leave to construct application.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson, would you like to proceed?

I am looking at the time estimates that were given some time ago, so they may have changed.  I have Mr. Brett as being 45 minutes and you, Mr. Thompson, as 20 minutes.  So looking at the time, if those estimates still stand, then it would make sense to go with Mr. Thompson.

Mr. Brett, do you still think you will be 45 minutes?

MR. BRETT:  I do.  I think it could be -- and I mentioned -- I spoke with Mr. Millar this morning and said that it might be between 45 and an hour.

MS. HARE:  All right.  And you, Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, hard to say.  I don't think it will be as long as Mr. Brett, but it could go beyond 4:30.  I am in your hands.

MS. HARE:  Everybody is coming back tomorrow, in any event, so why don't we --


MR. SMITH:  I'm not coming back.

[Laughter]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You can't.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, I will be here.

[Laughter]

MS. HARE:  All right.  So we are done for today and we will start tomorrow with you, Mr. Brett, then Mr. Thompson, and then Mr. Millar.  And then we will proceed to TransCanada's panel?

MR. CAMERON:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  We will probably will then be able to start the cost allocation?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  They are all here, and I am optimistic we will start there.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:10 p.m.
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